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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Good afternoon,

          3  ladies and gentlemen.

          4                 Welcome to this afternoon's hearing

          5  of the Committee on Health.

          6                 Today we will be hearing testimony on

          7  three important new tobacco control initiatives.

          8                 Intro. Number 70, introduced by

          9  Council Member Gennaro would raise the legal age to

         10  purchase tobacco from 18

         11  to 19.

         12                 Intro. Number 360, introduced by

         13  myself would raise the age to purchase tobacco to

         14  21.

         15                 Intro. Number 433, also introduced by

         16  myself would ban the sale of flavored tobacco

         17  products in New York City.

         18                 Countless studies have demonstrated

         19  the extraordinarily damaging effects of tobacco

         20  smoke.  Far too many of the leading causes of death,

         21  both in New York City and nationally, can either be

         22  caused or exacerbated by smoking.

         23                 It is not an exaggeration to say that

         24  tobacco control is one of the most critical public

         25  health battles of the 21st Century.
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          2                 Beginning with the first Clean In-

          3  Door Air Act of 1994, and continuing through the

          4  City Council's historic passage of Mayor Bloomberg's

          5  ban on smoking in all bars and restaurants in 2002,

          6  New York City has been in the forefront of tobacco

          7  control efforts.

          8                 Today we join the fight on yet

          9  another front of the ongoing campaign to protect

         10  young New Yorkers from the dangers of tobacco smoke.

         11    Studies have shown that 90 percent of smokers

         12  start smoking before the age of 19.

         13                 Furthermore, evidence has shown that

         14  people who begin smoking at an early age are much

         15  more likely to develop severe nicotine addictions

         16  than are older people.

         17                 It is therefore, absolutely critical

         18  that we do all that we can to prevent our kids from

         19  lighting up.

         20                 The three bills that we are

         21  considering today will place New York City in the

         22  vanguard of efforts to curb youth smoking by

         23  increasing the age that young people can legally buy

         24  cigarettes, we hope to place even greater barriers

         25  between young teenagers and these deadly products.
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          2  By banning the sale of flavored cigarettes, the

          3  council will join our Attorney General, Eliot

          4  Spitzer and 37 other state Attorney Generals in

          5  efforts to stop the sale of tobacco products that

          6  are clearly geared towards young teenage smokers.

          7                 I would like to introduce my

          8  colleagues who are here with us today, and of course

          9  the other sponsor to another bill here, Council

         10  Member Jim Gennaro.  But before I do so, we want to

         11  say that this is a multi- faceted approach that we

         12  will be engaging in.  We believe that we need to

         13  institute an age increase, whether it's 19 or 21.

         14  We believe that candy flavored cigarettes must be

         15  out of the marketplace within the City of New York,

         16  and beyond that, education campaigns are pivotal in

         17  the efforts to curb underaged smoking in our city.

         18                 At this point in time I will

         19  introduce Council Member Jim Gennaro, who also has a

         20  piece of legislation before us today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 I want to thank you in a special way

         24  for your leadership on this critically important

         25  issue.  You are a great champion in the fight
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          2  against smoking.  I greatly admire that, and I thank

          3  you very much for putting forward the two bills that

          4  you have on the agenda today.  Your bill to push the

          5  age to 21 is consistent with my bill, which seeks to

          6  raise the age.  I think you're absolutely right that

          7  it's critical, to use your words, to erect barriers

          8  to teens and smoking, certainly the candy flavored

          9  cigarettes, and certainly raising the age is

         10  critically important.

         11                 You've stated a lot of things in your

         12  statement that I had in my prepared statement, and

         13  this is to show that we're pretty much of the same

         14  mind here.  Certainly if age 21 prevails in this

         15  Committee, then I'd be an ardent supporter of that.

         16  But, 19 which I've kind of put on the table would

         17  make us consistent with Nassau County, consistent

         18  with Suffolk County, the State of New Jersey, many

         19  jurisdictions throughout the country, three states

         20  have done it, and the Centers for Disease Control

         21  has indicated that this is a great help to putting a

         22  barrier between kids and smoking.

         23                 The theory behind it is that in high

         24  school you have students that go to the 18 year olds

         25  that are in the high school, to go and purchase
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          2  their cigarettes, by the time students reach the age

          3  of 19 or 21, they have kind of moved beyond high

          4  school and you're breaking that link to, sort of,

          5  students' access to cigarettes within high schools,

          6  having kids buy them for them.  So, it's critically

          7  important that we do this today, and that we do it

          8  now.

          9                 I just want to thank in a special way

         10  the Bloomberg Administration for all of their anti-

         11  smoking efforts. They have done a lot.  The Mayor

         12  with his smoking ban, which we partnered with him

         13  on.  The Mayor, I know, has given more than $100

         14  million of his own money towards anti- smoking

         15  efforts.  He's a great anti- smoking champion.  I

         16  want to thank him publicly for that, and to thank

         17  you, Mr. Chairman and all my colleagues here as we

         18  contemplate these very important issues.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Before we begin, I just want to

         23  introduce all my colleagues that are here with us

         24  today.

         25                 On my right we have Council Member Al
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          2  Vann.  Then we have Council Member Miguel Martinez,

          3  then we have Council Member Rosie Mendez, then we

          4  have Council Member Inez Dickens. To my far left we

          5  have Councilwoman Maria Baez, then we have

          6  Councilwoman Helen Sears, Councilwoman Maria del

          7  Carmen Arroyo, who's also an ardent supporter

          8  against tobacco, and of course we have our colleague

          9  here, Council Member Jim Gennaro as well.

         10                 At this point in time, we will begin

         11  with the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         12                 Again, we want to thank you for

         13  joining us here today, and for all your efforts to

         14  curb underaged smoking and we invite you to begin

         15  your testimony.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Good

         17  afternoon Chairperson Rivera, and members of the New

         18  York City Council Committee on Health.

         19                 I am Sarah Perl, Assistant

         20  Commissioner of the Bureau of Tobacco Control at the

         21  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         22                 On behalf of Commissioner Frieden, I

         23  would like to thank you for the opportunity to

         24  comment on three pieces of tobacco legislation

         25  before the council committee today.
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          2                 Smoking is the leading preventable

          3  cause of death in New York City, and is responsible

          4  for one- in- three preventable deaths, and one- in-

          5  six deaths overall.  Despite significant progress in

          6  reducing the prevalence of smoking, New York City is

          7  still home to one million of adult smokers.

          8                 Preventing tobacco- related illness

          9  and death continues to be a key priority for the

         10  Bloomberg Administration.

         11                 In 2002, the Department of Health and

         12  Mental Hygiene's Bureau of Tobacco Control

         13  implemented a five- point tobacco control strategy

         14  consisting of taxation, legal action, cessation,

         15  public education and evaluation.  In 2002, New York

         16  City increased the excise tax on cigarettes to $1.50

         17  per pack. As a result, today New York City has the

         18  fourth highest tax on cigarettes in the Nation,

         19  making the total purchase price of cigarettes about

         20  $7.00 per pack.

         21                 Additionally, the Council and the

         22  Administration work to secure passage of the Smoke-

         23  Free Air Act in 2002, making nearly all workplaces

         24  smoke free, including restaurants and bars.        Cessation

         25  , education and evaluation are also critical
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          2  elements of our tobacco control strategy.  Since

          3  2003, the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene

          4  and its partners have distributed more than 175,000

          5  free courses of nicotine replacement therapy to New

          6  York City residents.

          7                 Our ongoing educational efforts

          8  include mass media campaigns and the distribution of

          9  published materials to New York City physicians to

         10  help them promote cessation among their patients.

         11                 The Department of Health and Mental

         12  Hygiene also collects, analyses and evaluates data

         13  to inform the Bureau's efforts and well as those of

         14  our tobacco control partners.

         15                 While we are happy to report a

         16  decline of 52 percent in teen smoking prevalence

         17  between 1997 and 2005, including 36 percent between

         18  2001 and 2005, we still have much work to do.  Even

         19  at 11 percent prevalence, less than half the

         20  national average of 23 percent, about 30,000 New

         21  York City public high school students smoke.

         22                 The Department of Health and Mental

         23  Hygiene appreciates the Councils' interest in

         24  preventing the initiation of smoking among young

         25  people, and the intent to improve the general health
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          2  of New Yorkers.

          3                 However, we  have concerns over the

          4  efficacy of the legislative proposals under

          5  consideration today.

          6                 Intro. 433, if enacted, would

          7  prohibit the sale of certain flavored tobacco

          8  products.  While the Department supports the

          9  legislative intent to prevent youth initiation and

         10  decrease youth smoking, it is unclear whether this

         11  legislation is the best way to achieve this goal.

         12  Prohibiting flavored tobacco products as opposed to

         13  further restricting or enforcing how tobacco

         14  products are marketed may not reduce youth smoking.

         15                 The tobacco industry employs an

         16  expansive array of marketing techniques to make

         17  smoking an appealing act, and tobacco an appealing

         18  product.  In fact, flavored tobacco products have

         19  been on the market for decades, and only became

         20  problematic once the industry began marketing them

         21  to youth.

         22                 In short, tobacco products have

         23  remained largely unchained over the years, while the

         24  ways in which the industry markets these products

         25  has evolved to keep pace with changing times,
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          2  consumers, and regulatory restrictions.

          3                 We are also concerned that Intro. 433

          4  prohibits the sale of certain flavored tobacco

          5  products while allowing the continued sale of

          6  others.  We question the utility of a bill that

          7  provides for the inclusion of some types of flavored

          8  tobacco, and the exclusion of others.

          9                 Both of the remaining bills on

         10  today's agenda would modify New York City's Tobacco

         11  Product Regulation Act, which prohibits the sale of

         12  tobacco products to persons under the age of 18.

         13  Intro. 70 would prohibit individuals under 19 from

         14  purchasing tobacco, and Intro. 360 would prohibit

         15  individuals under 21 from purchasing tobacco.

         16                 While the Department of Health and

         17  Mental Hygiene similarly supports the intent of both

         18  Intros. To prevent youth initiation and decreasing

         19  smoking, we are not certain that changing the legal

         20  age for purchasing tobacco is the best method to

         21  attain this goal.

         22                 While four states and several New

         23  York jurisdictions, including Nassau and Suffolk

         24  County have raised the purchase age from 18 to 19,

         25  there is still no evidence that this action results
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          2  in a reduction in youth smoking prevalence.

          3                 Similarly, we are aware of only one

          4  jurisdiction, a small town in Massachusetts, that

          5  has increased the purchase age to 21, and its

          6  possible impact on youth smoking is still unknown.

          7                 An additional cause for concern stems

          8  from published evidence based on tobacco industry

          9  documents that reveal the tobacco industry has

         10  historically endorsed tobacco control activities

         11  that are less effective compared to other proven

         12  strategies.  Youth access laws, such as raising the

         13  legal purchase age, are among the activities

         14  endorsed by the tobacco industry.  Sending the

         15  message that smoking is an adult choice made

         16  paradoxically plain to the hands of the tobacco

         17  industry, and attract more children to tobacco.

         18                 Effectively preventing youth

         19  initiation and reducing youth smoking is best

         20  achieved by pursuing other more proven strategies.

         21  For example, increasing cigarette excise tax is the

         22  single most effective strategy to reduce initiation

         23  and help current smokers quit.  Increased taxes have

         24  made the largest contribution to the declining

         25  number of smokers in New York City.               Last
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          2  year, the Administration was successful in getting

          3  introduced in Albany legislation that would have

          4  granted New York City the authority to raise the

          5  city portion of the excise tax again, this time by

          6  an additional fifty cents.  We intend to pursue such

          7  actions again in 2007, and invite the Council to

          8  join us in our advocacy.

          9                 Another proven tactic that strongly

         10  impacts initiation and promotes quitting is changing

         11  the image of smoking.  The passages of the Smoke

         12  Free Air Act of 2002, and New York City's aggressive

         13  media campaigns have contributed to creating an

         14  environment that make smoking the exception, rather

         15  than the rule.

         16                 It is worth noting that increasing

         17  the legal age to purchase tobacco without addressing

         18  the demands for these products would create a group

         19  of smokers who could no longer legally access a

         20  product to which many of them are already addicted.

         21                 The Department of Health and Mental

         22  Hygiene's comprehensive evidence- based five- point

         23  plan has helped New York City achieve a significant

         24  decline in the prevalence of youth smoking.

         25                 We appreciate and share the Council's
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          2  goal of further reducing youth smoking, but we are

          3  not certain that raising the legal purchase age and

          4  prohibiting the sale of flavored tobacco products

          5  are the best ways to reach this goal.             The

          6  Department continues to focus on proven strategies

          7  to prevent youth initiation and reduce youth

          8  smoking, including increasing cigarette excise

          9  taxes, and changing the image of smoking.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  share our thoughts on this issue, and the Department

         12  remains committed to reducing youth smoking, and

         13  looks forward to working with the Committee to reach

         14  this mutual goal.

         15                 I am happy to answer your questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 I just wanted to find out, when we

         19  looked at the statistics and obviously, I want to

         20  commend the Department and the City of New York for

         21  its accomplishments because a reduction of 36

         22  percent since 2001, is a huge achievement.  But it

         23  does leave out a huge population, and as you said,

         24  we have a ways to go.

         25                 In those statistics, are we taking
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          2  into consideration the underground market of

          3  illegally obtained cigarettes?  Or are we just

          4  taking into consideration the stamped cigarettes

          5  sold by traditional stores, legally?  How are we

          6  compiling that data?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Right,

          8  so when we look at prevalence data, we're looking at

          9  self- reports.  In other words, we are talking to

         10  both youth and adults, and asking them whether they

         11  smoke.  So, this would encompass both legal access

         12  to cigarettes and illegal access.  It's actually

         13  focused on whether or not the smoker considers

         14  themselves a smoker how they report their smoking

         15  habits.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, and in

         17  terms of  -- since we've done the last excise tax

         18  increase a couple of years ago, I have seen and

         19  heard of the prevalence of the underground market of

         20  cigarette purchasers buying them over the Internet,

         21  buying them outside of the City of New York or the

         22  State of New York for cheaper prices, do we know how

         23  many  --  how prevalent this industry, underground

         24  industry has become?  Do we know

         25  how  --  and do we also know how many violations
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          2  have been issued for people engaged in this

          3  underground activity?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We have

          5  data on a number of different things, which we are

          6  happy to make available to you.  I didn't come

          7  prepared to, sort of, answer that range of questions

          8  but for example, we have data on whether or not

          9  illegal sales are increasing or decreasing, and what

         10  we have found over the past couple of years is that

         11  they are, in fact, decreasing.

         12                 Now within illegal sales, there are a

         13  number of different avenues.  There's Internet

         14  sales, there's street sales, and there's a variation

         15  among what's decreasing and what's increasing.  So,

         16  we can certainly make that data available to you.

         17                 In terms of enforcement activities

         18   --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes as a matter

         20  of fact, I think I tied it in too closely.

         21                 In terms of the sale of cigarettes

         22  within normal, traditional stores, to underaged

         23  individuals, do we know how many violations were

         24  issued in previous years?  Do we know how many

         25  repeat offenders there were?
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          2                 How much enforcement is there, and

          3  how much enforcement is there still needed?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We can

          5  certainly make all that data available to you.  We

          6  have all of that data.             We know for

          7  example, that in 2005 there was an 84 percent

          8  compliance rate with the Adolescent Tobacco Use

          9  Prevention Act, which has been enforced by our

         10  sister agency, the Department of Consumer Affairs in

         11  conjunction with us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I do know that

         13  in your statement you stated that there's not  --

         14  for the increasing of the age, from either 19 or 21,

         15  that there is no hard evidence that show's that it

         16  has an impact.

         17                 Do we have an idea of how long it

         18  takes a study to be around before we can actually

         19  get hard evidence?  I normally believe  --  I

         20  believe it normally takes about five years of

         21  compiling data and information to have a good study

         22  established, but I think that the council member and

         23  I were both thinking of putting another tool in the

         24  tool chest of the Department to help curb underaged

         25  smoking.
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          2                 Do we know how many years these

          3  municipalities have had these age increases?  Or are

          4  they relatively new, which I believe they are?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We know

          6  some have been around for a while.  We know for

          7  example, the state of Alabama introduced their

          8  legislation in 1999.  We know that Utah introduced

          9  their legislation sometime in the 60's or 70's, we

         10  couldn't get an exact date, but we know that the

         11  more recent occurrences have been in 2005, I think

         12  in Nassau, and then New Jersey was in 2006, Suffolk

         13  was also in 2006.

         14                 So no, we agree with you that

         15  sufficient time has not really passed to be able to

         16  have sufficient data to assess whether or not those

         17  efforts have, in fact, reduced youth smoking.

         18                 It's a bit of a complicated teasing

         19  of heart factor.  In other words, to determine that

         20  something in particular decreased smoking, you would

         21  have to be able to do what we call control for all

         22  of the other efforts that are surrounding that

         23  particular intervention, and this is part of the

         24  reason why at the Agency we promote comprehensive

         25  tobacco control, which essentially identifies a
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          2  series of proven strategies, and suggests the

          3  implementation of those strategies as a multi-

          4  component intervention.

          5                 It's very difficult, in fact, to

          6  tease apart the individual contributions of a

          7  specific intervention.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay so I mean,

          9  we agree with you.  We believe it's a multi- faceted

         10  approach.  It can't just be taxing out cigarettes.

         11  It can't just be educational programs. It has to be

         12  a multi- faceted approach, and whether we pass one

         13  or the other bill, or whether we don't do something

         14  or another.

         15                 So, we are all in the same boat in

         16  terms of we want to make sure that the youth do not

         17  start smoking, and if they are smoking, they quit

         18  smoking as soon as possible.

         19                 So we want to make sure that we have

         20  tools in place that will put that into effect.

         21                 Are there any other questions from

         22  committee members?

         23                 We have Council Member Gennaro.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 Commissioner, nice to see you, nice

          3  to see you.

          4                 I was a little taken aback with your

          5  testimony. Some of the argumentation has left me a

          6  little incredulous.  I don't  --  I'm not sure the

          7  Health Department believes this testimony.  I don't

          8  think the Health Department believes this testimony.

          9    I think this is Law Department or some other

         10  driving force here at work.  I don't think your

         11  Department believes this testimony.

         12                 I wish to congratulate your

         13  Department in going down to an 11 percent rate of

         14  prevalence, is extraordinary.  We were never  --

         15  are not here to say that increasing the age or doing

         16  the smoking, the flavored cigarettes was the most

         17  effective tools.  Certainly the taxation, education

         18  or whatever we all recognize, and all of the other

         19  efforts that the Bloomberg Administration has taken

         20  are sort of the most effective, but you know when

         21  you get down to 11 percent prevalence, which is

         22  great, we have to continue to think of different

         23  ways to drive that number even lower.

         24                 Someone who is obesely heavy, it's

         25  like easy to loose the first couple of pounds, but
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          2  once you're down to  --  11 percent, that's pretty

          3  trim, and so, it's our quest here on this Council to

          4  drive that number lower, and particularly when we

          5  are sandwiched in between Nassau and Suffolk

          6  counties and New Jersey, and perhaps all of New York

          7  State, you may go to 19, I am flabbergasted at the

          8  reluctance to even consider 19, when by your own

          9  statement because of all the factors from all of the

         10  things that we're trying to do, it's really hard to

         11  parse out which strategy yields the most results.

         12                 So, if you could speak to that I

         13  would be appreciative.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well, I

         15  think that the Department remains committed to

         16  comprehensive tobacco control, which has to do with

         17  implementing evidence- based strategies.  We remain

         18  committed to comprehensive tobacco control, which is

         19  a series of evidence- based strategies.  It was put

         20  out for the Centers for Disease Control in 1999.

         21  They are currently doing an update of that.  We are

         22  very curious to see what's in that update, but I

         23  think until there is significant evidence that a

         24  particular strategy is going to be effective, then

         25  it is our responsibility to implement proven
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          2  strategies that we know will be effective.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Did you talk

          4  to Nassau County, did you talk to Suffolk county?

          5  Did you talk to the State of New Jersey?

          6                 You knew that you were coming here to

          7  testify on these bills, and we have an expectation

          8  that you're going to do appropriate due diligence,

          9  and sound these folks out, and talk to those

         10  respective health departments, and those health

         11  professionals, and find out what their experience

         12  has been.

         13                 Have you talked to them?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well,

         15  we didn't talk to Nassau  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Didn't talk

         17  to them.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  --  And

         19  Suffolk, but we did talk to Alaska and Utah and

         20  Needham, Massachusetts.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Well, with

         22  all due respect, I think Nassau and Suffolk and New

         23  Jersey are more relevant than Alaska.  But that's my

         24  own unprofessional statement on it.

         25                 Please continue.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:   Well,

          3  we just reached out to the states that we knew  --

          4  that we felt that

          5  the  --  we didn't expect Nassau or Suffolk to have

          6  any evaluation data at this point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  But

          8  certainly they had a thought process that led them

          9  to put that initiative forward, and I think whatever

         10  it is that led them  --  that made them believe that

         11  the demographic of young kids in the New

         12  York/Metropolitan area  --  they had a thought

         13  process that led them towards taking that action.  I

         14  think, notwithstanding the fact that there's not a

         15  whole trail of data, there certainly was a process

         16  that they followed, a process that could inform your

         17  consideration of these measures.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well,

         19  we could certainly speak to them and find out.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  I think you

         21  should.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Find

         23  out what their thought process was about it, and

         24  consider how they came to their conclusions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  I was also
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          2  surprised

          3  when  --  about your concern for addicted smokers

          4  not being able to, sort of, get a cigarette fix.  I

          5  mean, I'm speechless.  I am speechless.  It's worth

          6  noting.  No it's not, that increasing the legal age

          7  create a group of smokers who could not longer

          8  legally access a product for which many of them are

          9  already addicted. I'm speechless.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  To

         11  answer your question, what we were trying to point

         12  out was the idea that we will need to accommodate in

         13  some way, this particular group of smokers who are

         14  addicted to a product.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  I'm for

         16  that.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  So,

         18  either by providing them with additional cessation

         19  or by providing them with access to medications that

         20  can help them quit, we're just simply trying to

         21  point out that this is one of the results if this

         22  legislation would pass, you're going to have a group

         23  of addicted smokers that are potentially going to

         24  have  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Which is to
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          2  say that actions have consequences.

          3                 To pass this bill would have

          4  consequences which we'd have to deal with, and I

          5  think the consequence of having people who are

          6  addicted to cigarettes, who can no long have access

          7  to them, and giving us the ability to give them

          8  alternatives and treatments, that would be a good

          9  consequence.             That would be my view of

         10  that.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We have

         12  no problem offering cessation to this group of

         13  smokers.  We were simply trying to point out that we

         14  would need to do that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Okay, well

         16  Mr. Chairman, for now I may return on a second round

         17  once I collect myself, but thank you Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, fine.

         19                 Before I move on to the next

         20  questioner, I actually just have a follow up

         21  question in terms of what we were just speaking

         22  about.

         23                 You said we treated 175,000 people in

         24  the City of New York with the cessation protocols

         25  that we have currently in place.
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          2                 Is there a reason why there wasn't

          3  more people treated?  Because I do know that upon

          4  calling 311, 311 states that`we no longer have any

          5  more of these packets to distribute.'             How

          6  much does it cost to run the program?  What would it

          7  take to expand it?  Because obviously since there is

          8  a huge interest in increasing the age, and

          9  eliminating the candy flavored cigarettes, there

         10  will be a spike in the amount of people that want to

         11  utilize these free programs.

         12                 So how much does it cost the City of

         13  New York? How much would it cost to expand it with

         14  the anticipated increase in people that may need to

         15  utilize this program?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  I

         17  appreciate the question.

         18                 We could certainly run some numbers

         19  to determine what cost it would incur to increase

         20  our cessation program.

         21                 We have focused on doing an annual

         22  cessation program but cessation medications are

         23  available throughout the year in cooperation with

         24  New York State and their Quit Line.  So, there never

         25  really has been a time when these medications are
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          2  not available.  There are times when New York City

          3  does a particular push to make the medications more

          4  available directly to people who live in New York

          5  City, but New York State runs a Quit Line, and they

          6  have medications available any time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  So there is an

          8  unlimited supply of these nicotine patches and other

          9  tools that are needed, if the public needs them?

         10  Because I actually do have people that have called

         11  up my office stating that when they call 311, now

         12  that they've seen the commercial that's on TV, about

         13  acquiring these nicotine patches or other cessation

         14  programs that it is not available.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  So we

         16  have 16 cessation programs through the Health and

         17  Hospitals Corporation that run`Quit Smoking'

         18  clinics, where you can get medications available.

         19  They don't charge people who can't pay for their

         20  care.

         21                 We have a partnership with the New

         22  York State Department of Health that offers

         23  cessation medications through the phone, to eligible

         24  New Yorkers, and then we also have a series of

         25  partners that we work with here in New York City.
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          2  We have an additional 27 partners who make cessation

          3  medications available to their constituents.

          4                 So, we have a fairly wide

          5  availability of resources at this point.  I don't

          6  think that the demand, at the moment, outweighs the

          7  supply that we have.  We would love to be in that

          8  situation, so if you have ideas about pushing New

          9  York City smokers into cessation, we would be

         10  delighted to talk to you about that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:   Are the people

         12  that are making the phone calls into the Department

         13  of Health, the 311, are they told about these other

         14  programs that exist within their local communities?

         15  Do we break it down?

         16                 Like if I am calling from the Fordham

         17  Road area of the Bronx, am I directed to a cessation

         18  program that is local to my area?  Or am I just

         19  given a list of citywide?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  No, you

         21  will be asked what your zip code is, either near

         22  your work or near your home, and then you will be

         23  provided with cessation services in those particular

         24  zip codes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Has there been

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  any tracking to follow up with these individuals to

          3  find out if they are actually using the program?  Or

          4  is it just they called in, they got the advise, and

          5  now we're counting them as part of our 175,000?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well

          7  again, we collect data on a number of different

          8  things.  So, we know how many people call 311.  We

          9  know how many people are referred to New York State.

         10    We know how many people are referred to HHC.

         11  Separately, we know how many people have called us

         12  about our direct give- a- way program.

         13                 There was an evaluation done in 2003

         14  of one of our give- a- way programs, which showed

         15  that approximately  --  there was a range of quits.

         16  But approximately a third of the people were

         17  successful in quitting who accessed this program.

         18  We have not done an evaluation on the entire group

         19  of people who may access these services.  It's very

         20  expensive to run those kinds of evaluations and

         21  having proven that it works, we figured we would put

         22  our resources into having the broadest reach that we

         23  could.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, and then

         25  lastly on my side.
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          2                 Back to the candy flavored

          3  cigarettes, since we do know the industry has

          4  admitted they are primarily marketed to the younger

          5  population, and the younger population has been

          6  shown to be the population that smokes it in its

          7  majority as opposed to the old generations, what's

          8  the rational of not seeing that as a useful tool to

          9  prohibit the sale of candy flavored cigarettes in

         10  the City of New York, since they are primarily

         11  utilized by teenagers under the age of 18 and of

         12  underaged smoking?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  I think

         14  we remain concerned about marketing.  I think that

         15  the issue for us is that these flavored cigarettes

         16  have been around for some time, and that it's the

         17  marketing of these cigarettes to young people, and

         18  that we need to do better around what the tobacco

         19  industry does to market this product or any other

         20  product to youth.

         21                 We've seen, essentially, that tobacco

         22  products have remained relatively the same over the

         23  years but the marketing of them continues to shift.

         24  That is our concern.  That essentially it's the

         25  marketing that we are trying to get at through the
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          2  product.

          3                      CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  The

          4  creation of the mocha, more mocha cigarettes, and

          5  the vanilla cigarettes that are relatively new to

          6  the market because, yes, they have had flavored

          7  cigarettes for quite some time, but there's new

          8  ingredients and new products that have been

          9  introduced in recent years that are the primary

         10  targets of this piece of legislation.  We don't have

         11  the empirical data or studies that back up our

         12  rational, but we do have the logical explanation

         13  that if the majority of people smoking these

         14  cigarettes are young, the young generation under the

         15  age of the legal smoking age, and if it's admitted

         16  to be marketed to this population, removal of this

         17  product from the marketplace should have a reduction

         18  in smokers from this age group.  That's just basic

         19  logic that falls into place, and it's a theory, and

         20  most things are done by theorizing, not done with

         21  hardcore facts because if we wait for facts for

         22  everything, we will new have a law enacted in the

         23  City of New York ever

         24                 I mean, there's no  --  I mean, even

         25  with the increase in the taxes on cigarettes, people
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          2  are still buying them.  So, there's nothing to say

          3  that people are not  --  are quitting smoking

          4  because of the increase, now it's just become a

          5  luxury.  Or now it's become, `I'm going to buy for

          6  the bootlegger down the street, as opposed from

          7  buying it from the bodega.'  So I mean, the similar

          8  situation can be said about other tools that have

          9  been implemented by the Department of Health.  I

         10  mean, this is just another tool that should have an

         11  impact.

         12                 Don't you agree?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Our

         14  only concern is that we haven't seen any evidence to

         15  suggest that it will have an impact.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, thank you.

         17                 We have Council Member Felder who is

         18  next on the list.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 Thank you to the Chairs for holding

         22  this very important hearing because there's no

         23  question that everyone would agree that saving life,

         24  there's not debate about that.  The only question is

         25  how.
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          2                 So it's not a question, it's a

          3  comment, and I think it's important to understand

          4  that the issue that's being raised today is very

          5  complicated, and I would like to play devil's

          6  advocate just for a minute to say that I have an 18

          7  year old son, just turned 18, and I'm not interested

          8  in telling you whether he smokes or not, but the

          9  fact is, an 18 year old is taken into the Army

         10  today.  There's a chance that an 18 year old will be

         11  killed in battle, and that 18 year old, we don't

         12  want to give him the right, at least in New York

         13  City, to buy cigarettes. Some may argue that 21

         14  years old is the age for drinking, so why is that

         15  different?

         16                 Well, I can make the same argument.

         17  I would argue the same, and I'm not telling you that

         18  I'm advocating against the bill because it's not

         19  popular to say anything against a bill that would be

         20  prohibiting smoking.  But at the same time, I think

         21  that my colleagues, I hope, realize, and I should

         22  say I believe that do, that it's not just a simple

         23  matter.  That if an 18 year old can be drafted into

         24  the Army to go out to war, take a census certainly

         25  from the 18, 19, 20, 21 year olds, and they will say
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          2  to you,`if we can go out to war and potentially be

          3  killed, we should have the right to buy a pack of

          4  cigarettes.'

          5                 So I think it's not such a simple

          6  issue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          8  much Council Member Felder, and you're not known for

          9  playing devil's advocate, so you took us by

         10  surprise.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Next on the list

         13  is Council Member Inez Dickens.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you

         15  Mr. Chair, and thank you Commissioner for your

         16  testimony.

         17                 The Department of Consumer Affairs

         18  has been conducting ongoing operations of

         19  enforcement of age restrictions on sale of tobaccos

         20  at stores, particularly the small owner operated

         21  bodegas.

         22                 Is this our single most important

         23  level of compliance as far as age restriction is?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  I'm not

         25  sure exactly what you are referring to.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  The

          3  Department of Consumer Affairs I am acutely aware

          4  has been conducting operations of enforcement  --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  --  For age

          7  restrictions.            Is the Department of

          8  Consumer Affairs our single most valued level of

          9  compliance as far as age restrictions?  Are there

         10  any other agencies that go out and do the operations

         11  for age restriction enforcement?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  No,

         13  you're correct.               Because the Department

         14  of Consumer Affairs is the agency responsible for

         15  conducting enforcement operations around cigarette

         16  vending.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Are there

         18  any other levels of compliance as far Internet

         19  access for tobacco sales?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  There

         21  are a series of legal actions that have been  --  or

         22  actually a series of agreements that have been

         23  entered into among the credit card companies in

         24  order to ensure that cigarettes can't be charged

         25  over the Internet.  There's a series of legal
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          2  actions that have been examined to begin to cut down

          3  on Internet sales, and sales through the mail.  I

          4  mean, there are a number of different avenues for

          5  buying cigarettes illegally.

          6                 Is that what you're getting at?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Yes, I am

          8  talking about well, Internet access, yes, which is

          9  illegal and street access, which would be I guess

         10  the police department, is that correct?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right,

         13  and your testimony about the town in Massachusetts

         14  that has increased their purchase age to 21.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  What year

         17  was that done?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  So,

         19  they actually did it incrementally.  In 2003, they

         20  raised it to 19, in 2004 they raised it to 20, and

         21  in 2005 they raised it to 21.  The town is called

         22  Needham, Massachusetts.  There is a population of

         23  28,000.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  There has

         25  been no documentation yet as to the effects, whether
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          2  they have been effective in reducing the sale of

          3  tobacco?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  That is

          5  correct.

          6                 We spoke to them on the phone, and

          7  they have not conducted any evaluation to suggest

          8  there's a link between increasing the purchase age

          9  and a decline in smoking among youth.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right,

         11  thank you very much Commissioner.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Next we have Council Member John Liu,

         15  then we have Council Member Sears and Stewart after

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         18  Chairman for holding this hearing.

         19                 Thank you very much Ms. Perl.  We

         20  have worked together very often on anti- tobacco

         21  initiatives, especially those involving young

         22  people.  So I appreciate your efforts.

         23                 I do have to say though that in line

         24  with Councilman Gennaro's thinking, that I find it

         25  hard to believe that this testimony actually comes
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          2  from you because I know what an ardent advocate and

          3  fighter you are against the use of tobacco,

          4  particularly among our young kids.

          5                 A lot of what we do in terms of city

          6  codes is not only  --  many of our city codes and

          7  the laws that we pass we would like to have 100

          8  percent enforcement.

          9                 We realize that in the real world

         10  that's not necessarily the case, and so a lot of

         11  times bills are passed to have some kind of effect

         12  of curtailing something, a problem.  And also to

         13  send a strong message.

         14                 The testimony that says that sending

         15  the message that smoking is an adult choice, may

         16  actually not be the message that we want to send.

         17  That seems like a silly argument to me, to say that

         18  right now we only allow 18 year olds  --  people

         19  over the age of 18 to buy cigarettes, and we would

         20  not want to send the message that while we think

         21  that you should at least be 19 before you buy

         22  cigarettes.

         23                 Is that a message that we don't want

         24  to send?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well,
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          2  what we were referring to in our testimony is

          3  tobacco industry documents which show very clearly

          4  that projecting of forbidden fruit image around

          5  cigarettes has, in fact, been used by the tobacco

          6  industry in their marketing as a way to attract

          7  teens, kids, to tobacco.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  There must be a

          9  million things in this city that we say to kids that

         10  they cannot do, or they should not do.  I would not

         11  back off on any of those items. So, there are plenty

         12  of other messages that we can send to our young

         13  children, and the fact is as you yourself have

         14  become more and more successful in getting through

         15  to the young people in our city, to send the message

         16  that smoking is just not good, and second- hand

         17  smoke is even less desirable.  We can say to our

         18  teenagers that you shouldn't even be smoking or

         19  buying cigarettes when you're 18, wait until you're

         20  19, or wait until you're 21.

         21                 Now the people, the teens who are

         22  intent on smoking no matter what, they're going to

         23  disregard it like the 17 year olds disregard it

         24  today.  There's no question about that, but I

         25  believe, I am optimistic in thinking that there are
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          2  more young people, teens, who are against smoking,

          3  and who are helping us put the message out to their

          4  own peers that smoking is a thing of the past.  It's

          5  not the way of the future, and that we're going to

          6  use them to eradicate it.

          7                 So, I am glad that the testimony does

          8  not actually come out and say that the

          9  Administration is against raising the cigarette

         10  purchasing age.  I don't think it does, right Mr.

         11  Chairman?  I don't think it explicitly says that.

         12                 So, I am hoping that that is the

         13  opening that you are leaving us with because to say

         14  that while we don't want to send a message that the

         15  tobacco industry finds somewhat favorable, or that

         16  there's not proof that raising the tobacco age to 19

         17  or 21 versus the current age of 18 is going to work.

         18    Those are  --  they just ring so hollow, and I

         19  hope we can get serious about this legislation

         20  because I think our Chairperson Rivera and

         21  Councilman Gennaro, they're being very serious about

         22  this, and that's why there's a broad amount of

         23  support among our colleagues for raising the age of

         24  tobacco purchases.

         25                 To play the devil's advocate to our
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          2  devil's advocate today, I understand that people who

          3  are age 18 can serve in the military, but in New

          4  York State, there are a whole host of state-

          5  sponsored or state- encouraged child insurance

          6  programs, like Child Health Plus, what is the age

          7  that all children in New York are covered up

          8  through?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  I don't

         10  know this off- hand.  We would have to get back to

         11  you on that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Well, it's at

         13  least 19, and in some cases 21.

         14                 So, I think there  --  among health

         15  professionals there's always a very strong linking

         16  between our health policy and the actual social

         17  costs of tobacco use, and so, if our child heath

         18  insurance policies, the state sponsored and the

         19  state advocated policies cover kids through the age

         20  of 19, and in some case up through 21, then I think

         21  our smoking policy should be consistent somehow.

         22                 So, I hope we can work together on

         23  this because you didn't say your are opposed to

         24  raising the age, or did you?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well,
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          2  we think that some of the data from raising the age

          3  around alcohol is interesting, and we think it's

          4  worth further consideration to 21.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay, so now

          6  that is standard Perl that I know.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Next we have Councilwoman Sears.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 I believe that in the State of New

         14  York one is an adolescent until the age of 21, am I

         15  correct?  Do we know that? That in the State of New

         16  York you are considered an adolescent until the age

         17  of 21, and I believe that is the state law of New

         18  York.  At least it was a week ago, and I don't think

         19  that we can take our little plot of the earth in New

         20  York City and worry about the rest of it in the

         21  grand stale, because I think if we were to look at

         22  laws, if we were to look at regulations, we would

         23  find them extremely conflicting, one law to another.

         24    Just as you have talked about the difference in

         25  ages.
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          2                 I think that in New York State, and

          3  I'm not going to get involved with the federal

          4  government, a lot of mixed messages in a lot of

          5  their laws and regulations.  If one is an adolescent

          6  until the age of 21, it means in many cases their

          7  parents are responsible, and we also determine that

          8  age because we think that when they get to be 21

          9  they have a little more common sense, and a little

         10  more rational into what they do.

         11                 Smoking is an addiction, and I think

         12  that your agency recognizes that as an addiction.  I

         13  think that you have put into place many things to

         14  deal with that.  I think we need to look at it that

         15  way.  I don't think that we should take a negative

         16  approach that if we do this, "X" is going to happen.

         17    I think it needs to be treated as what it is,

         18  which is an addiction.  I think we need to raise the

         19  level, and I believe to 21, and I think we have to

         20  do what's right in the City.

         21                 Government has always had a  --  if

         22  you do "Y" this will happen, if you do "B", "G" is

         23  going to happen, and it becomes paralyzed.  This is

         24  the history of government because they are always

         25  looking at what isn't politically correct and what
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          2  isn't politically sound.

          3                 I think when it comes to our youth,

          4  we have to be bold enough and strong enough, and you

          5  just made a comment about alcoholism, and perhaps

          6  you need to look at that and smoking in the same

          7  light and the same page.

          8                 I support, and I think it should be

          9  21, and I think that my colleagues Gennaro and

         10  Rivera are very bold in doing what they're doing,

         11  and it's a recognition that should be recognized.

         12  There's going to be a lot of opposition to it, an

         13  awful lot.  There's going to be  --  this one is

         14  going to break the law, and this is going to

         15  encourage breaking the law but government shouldn't

         16  be paralyzed by those comments.  We need to take

         17  action.  The fact is even though you have given

         18  these reductions, smoking is on the rise among

         19  teenagers.  Let's just recognize it's not going

         20  down.  I get into high schools, and it's amazing

         21  what I see outside.

         22                 So, I am not questioning your

         23  numbers, but certainly the youth are smoking more

         24  and more, and one of the reasons the Administration

         25  and the Council were so adamant about the smoking
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          2  bill was because of the horrendous, horrendous

          3  dangers of it, and I think that that means we need

          4  to look one, at changing the age of which they can

          5  buy cigarettes.  I don't think that the dichotomies

          6  in the federal government or the state government

          7  should deter the City from being quite responsible

          8  for what it needs to do that our youth are becoming

          9  so effected by this terrible addiction, and you are

         10  open to that.  You have done wonderful work in your

         11  agency, and I commend you for that.  I think that

         12  you need maybe to revisit just what age you would

         13  like to see this, and 21 would be in keeping with

         14  the state law that one is an adolescent until the

         15  age of 21.

         16                 Would you take that back and review

         17  that?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:

         19  Certainly, I mean I am not aware that the state law

         20  suggests that someone is an adolescent until they

         21  are 21, so I would have to review that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, okay,

         23  thank you.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 MR. MANNING:  If I could just
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          2  actually make a point.  We agree with you completely

          3  Councilwoman Sears.

          4                 My name is Chris Manning.  I am the

          5  Director of Intergoverment Affairs at the

          6  Department.

          7                 I think there's two questions.  One

          8  is, how do you address youth smoking?  If the

          9  question were posed directly, we would say you focus

         10  on education.  You focus on cessation.  You focus on

         11  taxation.  There are a number of tried and true

         12  methods to get at youth smoking, which the

         13  Department has and will continue to pursue with

         14  figures.

         15                 Yes, we've done  --  as a city, we

         16  have done a fantastic job of bringing youth smoking

         17  rates under control, but there is still work to be

         18  done.  We think that those efforts can get us

         19  further than where we are today.

         20                 The second question is whether or not

         21  the proposals before us today, given what we know as

         22  we sit here today, can get us to those gains.  The

         23  response is, as the Assistant Commissioner said, we

         24  don't have the data that we would like to have right

         25  now to be able to say,`this is something that we
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          2  know will have an impact.'  The data just doesn't

          3  exist.

          4                 We think, and as we do with all of

          5  our public health efforts, we will continue to look

          6  at the data as it becomes available, as these things

          7  are researched and evaluated, we will take those

          8  things into consideration, and then, a conversation

          9  at a future point might have a different set of

         10  criteria to use as the basis for that conversation.

         11                 We think that these proposals are

         12  interesting, and worth studying further.  The

         13  question of 19 versus 21, again, with very few  --

         14  there is some precedent for 19, but the 21 issue

         15  does seem to be fairly interesting, and is in fact

         16  worth studying further but as we sit here today, if

         17  you were to ask us`what would you do?', we would

         18  increase the cigarette tax, we would focus on

         19  improving education, we would focus on making sure

         20  that people that want to quit have the resources to

         21  quit, and we will continue to further look at the

         22  issue.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Council Member Stewart.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 Commissioner, I just wanted to ask,

          5  don't you think there's a terrible double standard

          6  that we have throughout the City of New York, and

          7  maybe throughout the State?

          8                 For example, the age for people to

          9  become firemen, the age for law enforcement

         10  officers, the military service, in terms of age,

         11  health coverage in terms who can be covered as a

         12  child or not.  Then we have the problem of  --  at

         13  what age are you charged as an adult.  And then, you

         14  have going to the bodega or the corner store, you

         15  are allowed to purchase the cigarette at age 19, you

         16  can purchase the pack of cigarettes, but then you

         17  can't purchase alcohol.

         18                 So, could you comment basically on

         19  the double standard that we have, and maybe we can

         20  look at a comprehensive way of really looking at

         21  this law, and all the other laws that we have that

         22  deals with young people and adults?

         23                 MR. MANNING:  I would simply say that

         24  I imagine that each of those ages were set

         25  independently, and based on particular circumstances

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  of the proposal and what goes along with it, and

          3  that decisions were made accordingly.  I am not sure

          4  that those particular experiences translate directly

          5  to tobacco, but certainly as we're looking at these

          6  proposals individually, I am sure those were

          7  evaluated individually, but I am not so sure that we

          8  would be able to comment on why one was set at 18

          9  and why one was set a different age.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I believe

         11  that no one has ever looked at  --  to really

         12  compare or looked to see what the benefits of

         13  dealing with it from that perspective.  The fact is

         14  you can compare cigarettes with alcohol.  You can

         15  compare the services that one provides.  You can

         16  compare all of these things, you can compare them.

         17  Whether you look at someone as an adult, or as a

         18  child, and if one can make rational decisions, it is

         19  based on the fact that you want to say whether a

         20  person is a child or not.  Who's going to be

         21  responsible and all of that?

         22                 So, I am saying basically that we

         23  should look at all of these factors, and to make  --

         24    to stop the terrible double standards that we

         25  have.  Because, if you are going to raise the age
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          2   --  if we are going to raise the age for alcohol to

          3  21, if we have it at 21, why shouldn't someone who

          4  wants to smoke, who is doing terrible harm just like

          5  with alcohol, who should be able to make that

          6  decision at 21?

          7                 I am saying basically that we should

          8  look at all these different laws, and these rules

          9  that we have, and maybe come up with some sort of

         10  universal standard.  What is an adult? Who is an

         11  adult?  And at what age do we consider that person

         12  as an adult to be able to enter a club or to drink

         13  alcohol, or to smoke cigarettes, and that is what I

         14  am asking you.

         15                 If you can take a look at that, maybe

         16  we can go forward.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, I just

         20  wanted to make a quick announcement.

         21                 The Democratic Caucus did start ten

         22  minutes ago, so members can go over there and check

         23  out what's going on, and come back as well.

         24                 Next we have Councilwoman Helen

         25  Foster.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you.

          3                 I don't know that  --  I don't think

          4  agree is the right word but there is some concern

          5  that I have in terms of this age limit.  I think

          6  that anything that is preventative in nature is a

          7  good thing.  But let me go to the issue of

          8  education.

          9                 Are we doing things in terms of

         10  education to target specific communities, in

         11  specific areas?  I know that in my area bodegas are

         12  popular, and while it is illegal, Lucy's are still

         13  being sold where kids at school and break can go get

         14  a Lucy.

         15                 What are we doing in terms of

         16  education, specific to neighborhoods and cultures

         17  that will help or lead young people away from

         18  smoking?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  So, we

         20  have a series of different kinds of educational

         21  efforts that we have citywide. So for example,

         22  within our youth enforcement program that we partner

         23  with DCA on, we are working with the 12,000

         24  cigarette vendors around the city to inform them

         25  about the laws, which include information about
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          2  Lucy's, about underage smoking, and to be clear with

          3  them, and we are in process of ensuring that each of

          4  those vendors is able to get the information in a

          5  language in which they would best like to receive

          6  it.

          7                 So, we've been trying to tailor some

          8  of that material both to the sellers and the owners

          9  of those stores that have retail tobacco licenses.

         10                 Our educational programs are

         11  citywide.  The strategy that we've used that's most

         12  prominent is through our large- scale, hard- hitting

         13  media campaigns, and there's very good evidence to

         14  suggest that the types of commercials that we've

         15  been running affect both adults smoking rates and

         16  youth smoking rates, both in terms of picking up the

         17  product and in terms of putting down the product.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  I assume that

         19  those target media ads are in different languages?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Yes,

         21  we've been able to run media in Chinese, and in

         22  Spanish, and in English in this past year.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Forgive me if

         24  those questions, and this question was already

         25  answered, but have we gotten back any data as to how
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          2  effective our ads and our effort to stop not only

          3  young people, but New Yorkers in general from

          4  smoking?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We took

          6  a look at the data.  One of the ways we assess the

          7  media campaign is to look at the number of calls

          8  into 311 of people trying to access cessation

          9  services.  So the number of calls into 311 for

         10  people accessing cessation services between January

         11  and June in 2006 increased four- fold over that same

         12  period of time in 2005.  In 2005 you had about 8,000

         13  calls to 311, and in 2006 during that period of time

         14  you had about 32,000 calls.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  So we know

         16  it's successful, and it's getting people to 311, but

         17  we don't know the outcome in terms of how many

         18  people are successful in getting the contact or

         19  getting the help and stopping smoking?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Well,

         21  we know that anybody who calls 311 is either given a

         22  referral, or they're provided with information.

         23                 In others words, 311 has a number of

         24  different smoking cessation services available to

         25  the callers, and as I did mention, that we did do an
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          2  evaluation on one of our give- a- way programs,

          3  which is slightly different than the ongoing

          4  services that are available, and there is published

          5  data on that in the Lancet, which shows that we were

          6  able to help about a third of those smokers quit,

          7  which is an enormous increase, almost a six fold

          8  increase over the cold- turkey rate of about five or

          9  six percent.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 I just have a follow up question.

         14                 I just wanted to find out, with the

         15  money that we receive from the tax on cigarettes for

         16  the City of New York, what do we do with it?

         17                 Does it go into the general fund or

         18  do we use it solely for the purposes of cessation

         19  programs?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  I think

         21  that I would have to go back and get some more

         22  information on what the flow of the money is for

         23  you.  I am not really privy to how the money from

         24  the taxation is distributed.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I am pretty sure

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  it just goes into the general fund.

          3                 I guess what I am trying to say is

          4  that what we should probably do is following the big

          5  tobacco settlements and where all of the money

          6  should go for cessation programs, and that in and of

          7  itself should increase the level of funding that we

          8  have at our disposal to target, not only the youth

          9  population, but the general population in how to

         10  quit smoking and things of that nature.  Because

         11  when you have such a large industry marketing, in

         12  many different ways to our population, it's almost

         13  like we're throwing rocks at a tank.  I don't like

         14  to use that analogy but we're fighting with one hand

         15  tied behind our back. We don't have the arsenal at

         16  our disposal, and we're not fully armed in this

         17  battle, and I think that we need to really have

         18  everything at our disposal.

         19                 So, it would be good to see if we can

         20  actually use 100 percent of the money that we get

         21  from the taxes solely for the purpose of cessation

         22  programs to our youth population and to our older

         23  population.  That would be a lot more effective, I

         24  believe.

         25                 MR. MANNING.  Yes, certainly there's
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          2  a limited amount of resources to address this issue.

          3

          4                 We continue to work at the state

          5  level, and also in D.C. to try to get through

          6  government channels as much funding, grants, et

          7  cetera, as possible.  I think that's an important

          8  issue, resources whether they be staff, money, what

          9  have you, spent in one particular area, on one

         10  particular intervention, are resources that can't be

         11  used for another, and so when we make decisions

         12  about what strategies are we going to pursue, we

         13  have to keep that in mind until the money falls from

         14  the sky or wherever it may come from, we have to

         15  make decisions about how best to spend these funds.

         16  That is why we continuously rely, not just within

         17  tobacco control, but also throughout the Department

         18  in making sure that that money is spent in the most

         19  effective areas as possible, relying on data, and

         20  the evaluation that we have available to us.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  So then, I will

         22  look forward to having both of our offices joining

         23  together and lobbying for 100 percent of the money

         24  to be allocated for cessation programs because I

         25  think that we need much more than what we are
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          2  currently using at our disposal to combat this

          3  situation.

          4                 What is the total  --  do we have a

          5  number, dollar amount, of how much money is spent on

          6  cessation programs?

          7                 I think I asked that earlier but I

          8  don't know if we actually got the answer.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We

         10  don't break it out by cessation specifically.

         11                 In other words, the figure is on what

         12  the tobacco control program is allocated annually.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Well how much

         14  money in the City of New York is spent overall on

         15  tobacco control and programs?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  We

         17  would definitely have to research that and get back

         18  to you on it.

         19                 In other words, if you gave us a

         20  period of time in which you would want to know much

         21  we'd spent, we could certainly take a look at that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I mean, on a

         23  yearly basis, I mean I guess our question is how

         24  much do we spend per year combating underaged

         25  smoking and smoking in general?  With commercials,
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          2  mailers, and other forms of marketing?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Sure,

          4  there's also obviously other efforts that go on

          5  throughout the police department, the Department of

          6  Consumer Affairs, the Department of Youth and

          7  Community Development.  There are a number of other

          8  departments that do  --  the Department of Education

          9  provides education around tobacco.

         10                 We would have to quantify that out

         11  across agencies.  There is a number of different

         12  agencies that put resources into education,

         13  cessation, taxation, legal action.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Council Member

         15  Gennaro has a follow up question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman.

         18                 Let me just start by  --  although I

         19  did mention this earlier, that I don't want anyone

         20  within the sound of my voice to think that I'm not

         21  grateful at the  --  I'm looking at the number right

         22  here in your testimony.  Eleven percent prevalence

         23  of smokers among high school students, compared to

         24  the national average of 23 percent, and so I am

         25  grateful for that, and it is terrific.
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          2                 I just wanted to thank you for being

          3  able to accomplish that.  But of course, the goal is

          4  always get your average down to ten, to nine, to

          5  eight, wouldn't that be nice?                Now let

          6  me just ask about, what would be the reason for,

          7  let's just say to not go to 19 because a lot of

          8  times when the City evaluates legislation they

          9  think, "Well, what is it we are going to have to do?

         10    What is the City going to have to spend?  What

         11  kind of new regulation will we have to promulgate?"

         12  And all the hurdles that like have to be done to get

         13  there.  This seems like kind of a free one, in that

         14  it is really not our effort that we have do take,

         15  and it would be something that's been done already.

         16                 So, talk about what would  --  why

         17  shouldn't we do this other than the fact that you

         18  don't think you have data in hand that conclusively

         19  demonstrates that it would be an imperative to do?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  There

         21  are other areas of enforcement that this impacts.

         22  Obviously the Department of Consumer Affairs

         23  currently enforces this at 18, and there are a set

         24  of educational materials that go along with the

         25  enforcement of 18.  So, all of that would have to be
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          2  changed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right, okay.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  They

          5  run a program that's a youth enforcement program.

          6  They would have to, obviously, recruit new, older

          7  youth to be able to run that program.

          8                 I mean there is a series of

          9  administrative and implementation issues that would

         10  have to be addressed.

         11                 Is that what you are asking?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right, well

         13  yes, I didn't know that you were going to segway so

         14  beautifully into my next question.  Because I made

         15  an assertion when I first started my questioning

         16  that I wasn't  --  I didn't firmly believe that this

         17  testimony represents the prevailing sense in the

         18  Department of Health, and so, I will segway into my

         19  next question which is that what other agencies were

         20  part of the consideration of these legislative

         21  initiatives, and I know that you're not here to

         22  speak for them because they are not here, but what

         23  other agencies had a hand in crafting the

         24  Administration's overall response to these

         25  legislative proposals?  You already mentioned DCA.
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          2  Was it the Department of Finance?  Was it also the

          3  Law Department?  Because I suspect that they really

          4  had issues with this bill, or with this set of bills

          5  that led to the testimony that we had before us from

          6  the Health Department.

          7                 So, what other agencies are sort of

          8  in on the mix here?  I guess maybe that's more of a

          9  question for Chris.

         10                 MR. MANNING:  Sure I mean, as you

         11  know, the Administration's position on all things

         12  legislative is coordinated out of the Mayor's Office

         13  of City Legislative Affairs.

         14                 I can't personally speak, and I don't

         15  believe, and I don't want to speak for the Assistant

         16  Commissioner would be able to say with any great

         17  certainty who all was consulted as part of the

         18  overall deliberations.  Certainly the question as

         19  posed to the Department of all of this is what data,

         20  what evidence does the Department of Health have as

         21  the lead agency for tobacco control matters, and

         22  that's the way that we sort of focused it today but

         23  you know, we wouldn't be able to answer you with any

         24  great certainty as the overall package.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Okay well,
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          2  Mr. Chairman, I would just like to state for the

          3  record that I suspect that one of the impediments to

          4  the  --  some of the resistance that we're seeing

          5  from the Administration regarding these measures are

          6  from some other agencies, and if we're going to have

          7  like a reasonable chance of trying to have a full

          8  discussion of these bills, then I think some of the

          9  issues that other agencies have with these bills

         10  that have gone kind of unstated in these hearings

         11  are going to have to get discussed, whether in the

         12  light of day of the hearing, or at negotiations, or

         13  whatever.

         14                 But I suspect that DCA is going to

         15  have to, as the Commissioner said, is going to have

         16  to do something and change what they do.  The

         17  Finance Department may have their own views on how

         18  is this going to impact revenues.  The Law

         19  Department has their own legal considerations or

         20  whatever, and so, we're having a discussion with the

         21  Administration on this bill in this hearing, but I

         22  think we're only getting part of the story.

         23                 So that has lead me to a situation

         24  where we're kind of beating up the good guys here.

         25  I mean, those who have done more than folks before
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          2  us here to really bring that number down to 11, and

          3  that's just something that I want to state for the

          4  record, that there are other issues from other

          5  agencies. Until we find them out, I don't think

          6  we're going to be able to move forward as we wish.

          7                 I have one final question, in talking

          8  about  -- and I just called you guys good guys, and

          9  I will take this opportunity to call the Mayor a

         10  good guy.  I know that when I had my bill in for 19,

         11  and Joel put his bill in for 21, I don't have the

         12  paper in front of me but as I recall, the Mayor said

         13  he was intrigued by the idea was, I think, the

         14  statement I saw when you had put your bill in.

         15                 I have a report here from the New

         16  York Times going back to 2004 when the Mayor

         17  commented on New York State's contemplation of

         18  raising the age from 18 to 19 in New York State. So,

         19  it was about that issue and the Mayor said that he

         20  would not be opposed to raising the age.  I think he

         21  meant there not opposed for the State to raise the

         22  age, and so, on at least two occasions in the media

         23  that I've seen, the Mayor has been very sympathetic

         24  towards rasing the age or doing anything that he

         25  could possibly do, whether it's fighting to get the
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          2  smoking ban, which he used a lot of political

          3  capital to do that.  To the giving of his

          4  philanthropic efforts, personal efforts, and so I

          5  don't think the Mayor is a problem.  I don't think

          6  the Health Department is a problem.

          7                 I think other areas of city

          8  government are the problem, and with that said, I

          9  also want to reassert that I would encourage you to

         10  talk to the people in Suffolk and Nassau, and in New

         11  Jersey, and find out what their rational was for

         12  going forward, and what their health professionals

         13  envision, will come out of that.  I think that will

         14  be a very useful exercise for you to take and for

         15  other consideration of these bills, and I will end

         16  where I began, which is to  --  that getting that

         17  number down to 11 is just extraordinary, and we

         18  really appreciate all of your efforts in that

         19  regard.

         20                 Hopefully, we can have legislation

         21  come out of this package that will help you to get

         22  it even lower.  That would be a good thing.

         23                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         24                 Thank you, Chris.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I believe we

          4  just have one more follow up question by Council

          5  Member John Liu.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 I just want to  --  it's not really a

          9  question.  I just wanted to make it clear that in my

         10  opinion, but I would ask you to correct me if I am

         11  wrong.

         12                 Changing the age to 19 or 21, that

         13  doesn't result in hardly any changes on the

         14  administrative side.  There's already enforcement

         15  conducted by the Department of Consumer Affairs to

         16  make sure that stores don't sell to minors, or

         17  people under age 18.  All the City would have to do

         18  is simply direct the Department of Consumer Affairs

         19  to say, "well, now 19 is the cut off, or 21 is the

         20  cut off."  There's no additional work that needs to

         21  be done over and above what the City does already in

         22  terms of enforcing the minimum purchase age for

         23  tobacco.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PERL:  I

         25  wouldn't want to speak for DCA.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I'll speak as a

          3  member of the Consumer Affairs Committee.

          4                 Whether the Consumer Affairs

          5  Department enforces against businesses selling

          6  cigarettes and tobacco to people under the age of

          7  18, or under the age of 19, or under the age of 21,

          8  it's the same exact type and amount of work.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Thank you very much for joining us

         13  here today, answering our questions, and I do look

         14  forward to the opportunity of hearing the answers to

         15  some of the questions we posed earlier.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MR. MANNING:  Absolutely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  For the next

         19  panel we will have Corri Freedman on behalf of

         20  Cristine Delnevo, University of Medicine and

         21  Dentistry from New Jersey.  We will have Jane Lewis

         22  from Harrison Avenue, oh, she's with the same

         23  organization. We're going to have Irwin Berlin, M.D.

         24  from Elmhurst Hospital Center, and Doctor Donald

         25  Gemson from the American Cancer Society.
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          2                 MR. BERLIN:  Good afternoon, my name

          3  is Doctor Irwin Berlin, and I am Chief of the

          4  Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care at Elmhurst

          5  Hospital, and a member of the Board of Directors of

          6  the American Lung Association of the City of New

          7  York.

          8                 For more than 100 years, the Lung

          9  Association has worked to prevent lung disease and

         10  promote lung health for the residents of the five

         11  boroughs of New York City.

         12                 In that regard, on behalf of the

         13  organization, I am here to offer support and

         14  comments on Intro. 433 to prohibit the sale of

         15  flavored tobacco products, including flavored

         16  cigarettes, cigars, little cigars and smokeless

         17  tobacco.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  comment today. In particular, I would to thank

         20  Health Committee Chair, Joel Rivera, for his

         21  leadership on Intro. 433, and for his continued

         22  commitment to protecting the public health from the

         23  dangers of tobacco use.

         24                 The Lung Association has taken lead

         25  role in advocating for the introduction of this
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          2  important legislation, precisely because it has the

          3  potential to have a significant and powerful effect

          4  on the respiratory health of the City.  Smoking is

          5  the number one cause of preventable death in New

          6  York City, and every effort to prevent our children

          7  from picking up their first cigarette demands our

          8  full attention.

          9                 Reducing the insidious and pervasive

         10  tactics that addict new generations of smokers

         11  requires the sustained and comprehensive approach,

         12  which includes increased tobacco taxes, more funding

         13  for tobacco control and cessation programs, and

         14  strong policies to deter youth access and

         15  initiation.  The passage of Intro. 433 is vital to

         16  these efforts.

         17                 Every hour, one New Yorker dies from

         18  tobacco use. We know that more than 80 percent of

         19  smokers pick up the habit before the age of 18.

         20                 As a result, the future of tobacco

         21  industry depends on their ability to addict children

         22  to cigarettes.  We cannot tolerate this behavior.

         23                 In 1998, the National Master

         24  Settlement Agreement with the tobacco industry

         25  prohibited the marketing of cigarettes to children.
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          2  However, shortly thereafter, the sale of candy,

          3  fruit and alcohol flavored tobacco products began.

          4                 To attract a younger, more

          5  susceptible eye, cigarettes and tobacco products

          6  were developed in assorted candy, fruit and alcohol

          7  flavors.  Make no mistake, they are just as

          8  addictive and just as deadly as ordinary cigarettes,

          9  but they are meant to entice a whole different

         10  crowd.  What distinguishes them from other packs on

         11  the shelves is their catchy name, flashy

         12  advertising, and sweet smelling flavors and aromas

         13  that mask the harsh taste of tobacco.

         14                 The health impacts of the flavor

         15  pellets in these sweet products is unknown.

         16  Inhaling these chemical additives, in addition to

         17  the more than 40 carcinogenic compounds already

         18  found in their standard cigarettes, is just another

         19  risk for the tobacco user.  But it does provide a

         20  new opportunity for the tobacco industry to employ

         21  their sly marketing techniques. Visuals of seductive

         22  women, gambling themes and hip- hop imagery lure

         23  teens to get hooked on their product and the

         24  enticing flavors and smells keep them engaged.  This

         25  is the image of an industry that will stop at
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          2  nothing to further their business.

          3                 Intro. 433 is the landmark

          4  legislation that has the potential to set a strong

          5  precedent nationwide.  As tobacco companies replace

          6  one egregious and deceptive product with another,

          7  without regard for the consequences on public

          8  health, it is essential that we voice our outrage

          9  and expose their lies.

         10                 Later today, you are going to hear

         11  from several youths from the South Bronx and across

         12  the city, many of whom reside in low- income

         13  communities with limited access to health care, who

         14  resent the fact that the tobacco industry is

         15  targeting them to create a replacement market for

         16  the customers that they lose every day.  Just like I

         17  as a pulmonologist have seen the impact of tobacco

         18  related disease, these students have witnessed the

         19  devastating impact of tobacco on their families and

         20  friends.

         21                 By enacting Intro. 433 and

         22  prohibiting the sale of tobacco products with a

         23   "characterizing flavor," we would not be preventing

         24  established adult smokers from buying their favorite

         25  variety of smokes, we would be preventing youth from
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          2  being tempted to pick up their first deadly tobacco

          3  habit.

          4                 The Lung Association is proud to

          5  support Intro. 433 today, but would like to see the

          6  bill strengthened to have the greatest benefits to

          7  the public health by removing the exemption for

          8  clove cigarettes.  Clove cigarettes are composed of

          9  60 to 70 percent tobacco, and 30 to 40 percent

         10  cloves, and may in fact, be more dangerous than

         11  regular cigarettes.  According to the CDC, clove

         12  cigarettes produce twice as much nicotine, tar and

         13  carbon monoxide as regular cigarette brands.

         14  Additionally, as with flavor pellets, the effect of

         15  one key ingredient in clove cigarettes, which is

         16  eugenol, a topical anesthetic, the effect is

         17  unknown.  It may, however, dull the harsh taste of

         18  the cigarettes, numbing the throat, and encouraging

         19  smokers to inhale even more deeply.

         20                 In our efforts to further prevent

         21  youth from smoking, we want to express support for

         22  raising the purchase age for tobacco products, as

         23  proposed in two different bills today.            As

         24  stated, to save lives from tobacco- related disease,

         25  we must make every effort to keep cigarettes out of
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          2  the hands of youth and increasing the purchase age,

          3  it is an important strategy.

          4                 As this initiative is further

          5  developed, we strongly recommend strict enforcement

          6  and evaluative components that will ensure its

          7  success.

          8                 In closing, I would like to thank you

          9  again for your leadership on tobacco control and

         10  your dedication to the public health of all New

         11  Yorkers.

         12                 The American Lung Association of the

         13  City of New York looks forward to continuing to work

         14  closely with this Committee to advance legislation

         15  to prevent youth from a lifetime of tobacco

         16  addiction.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Next, please.

         20                 MR. GEMSON:  Thank you.

         21                 Chairman Rivera, and members of the

         22  Health Committee, thank you for the opportunity to

         23  testify in support of Intro. 433.

         24                 I am Doctor Donald Gemson, and my

         25  remarks are on behalf of the American Cancer
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          2  Society, where I serve as Chief Medical Officer for

          3  New York and New Jersey.

          4                 I am also speaking as a parent of two

          5  school- aged children and as a resident of New York

          6  City.

          7                 The American Cancer Society is the

          8  nationwide community- based voluntary health

          9  organization dedicated to eliminating cancer as a

         10  major health problem by preventing cancer, saving

         11  lives, and diminishing suffering from cancer,

         12  through research, education, advocacy and service.

         13                 Tobacco kills 440,000 Americans each

         14  year, and causes nearly one- third of all cancer

         15  deaths.  It is the number one cause of preventable

         16  death in the country.

         17                 As a physician, I can attest to the

         18  devastating health effects of smoking, and I want to

         19  applaud the Council for the outstanding work it has

         20  already done to make New York City a national leader

         21  in tobacco control.

         22                 Today, I would like to focus on our

         23  youth.  The statistics are alarming.  Each day,

         24  5,000 kids under the age of 18 try their first

         25  cigarette.  We believe it is incredibly important to
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          2  ban flavored cigarettes, and other flavored tobacco

          3  products covered under this legislation because they

          4  are aimed at recruiting young, underaged smokers.

          5  Flavored cigarettes are often the first cigarette

          6  children will try, they are like training wheels for

          7  traditional cigarettes.

          8                 With names like "Sweet Dreams Cherry"

          9  in bright cherry colored packages, and even though

         10  this product contains cigarettes, the picture on the

         11  front is of two cherries.  These sweetie, fruity and

         12  even alcohol- flavored cigarettes have proliferated

         13  in the past several years.  There are also fruit and

         14  alcohol- flavored little cigars, which look a lot

         15  like cigarettes and are cheaper to obtain.  These

         16  flavored tobacco products have the greatest appeal

         17  to new smokers, 90 percent of whom are under age 19,

         18  and the average age of first initiation into tobacco

         19  is 13.

         20                 Established smokers are unlikely to

         21  give up their favorite brand for these new

         22  cigarettes, but many kids will be tempted to give

         23  them a try, and many will get hooked on nicotine.

         24                 The tobacco industry understands

         25  this, and they have sought young people as
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          2   "replacement smokers."  In fact, this has been

          3  cited in U.S. District Judge Gladys Kessler's recent

          4  Final Opinion in the case against the tobacco

          5  industry brought by the U. S. Department of Justice.

          6

          7                 Judge Kessler writes that the tobacco

          8  industry has "intentionally marketed to young people

          9  under the age of 21 in order to recruit replacement

         10  smokers."  And, "that marketing is a substantial

         11  contributing factor to youth smoking initiation."

         12                 National studies have shown that

         13  flavored cigarettes appeal to young smokers,

         14  including minors.  A Harvard School of Public Health

         15  Study published in November 2005 found that flavored

         16  cigarettes promote youth initiation, and help young

         17  occasional smokers become daily smokers by masking

         18  the natural harshness and the taste of tobacco

         19  smoke.  It has been said that these flavored

         20  cigarettes "sweeten the poison" and thereby increase

         21  the attraction to youth.

         22                 Data from a 2004 study by the Roswell

         23  Park Cancer Institute bear this out.  The study

         24  found that 23 percent of 17 year olds had used

         25  flavored cigarettes in the month preceding the
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          2  study, in contrast only 9 percent of smokers aged 24

          3  to 26, more than double.  We believe the evidence is

          4  clear, these products are attracting youth.

          5                 This legislation is more relevant

          6  than ever.  As I am sure you are aware, last week R.

          7  J. Reynolds announced that it had signed a voluntary

          8  agreement with 38 Attorneys General to stop

          9  marketing cigarettes with candy, fruit or alcohol

         10  flavors.            While we are please with this

         11  Agreement, it is not a cure all.  R. J. Reynolds is

         12  just one manufacturer of flavored tobacco products,

         13  and their Agreement does nothing to stop others from

         14  marketing and selling flavored cigarettes to our

         15  youth.

         16                 The City Council has an historic

         17  opportunity to lead the state and to lead the nation

         18  by enacting a ban on these products from all tobacco

         19  manufacturers.  We urge you to continue your

         20  leadership, and to take that step.

         21                 To conclude, we believe that flavored

         22  tobacco products are inappropriately attracting new,

         23  young smokers.  The American Cancer Society strongly

         24  supports this bill as a much needed step to protect

         25  our children and to reduce their risk of nicotine
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          2  addiction, and the subsequent lethal effects of

          3  tobacco.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

          6                 Next.

          7                 MS. LEWIS:  Good afternoon Chairman

          8  Rivera, and members of the City Council Health

          9  Committee.

         10                 I want to thank you for the

         11  opportunity to speak in favor of Intro. 433.

         12                 My name is Jane Lewis, and I am an

         13  Associate Professor of Health Education and

         14  Behavioral Science at the University of Medicine and

         15  Dentistry of New Jersey, School of Public Health.

         16                 My research focuses of tobacco

         17  industry marketing, and I head up a surveillance

         18  system that monitors and collects tobacco industry

         19  products and promotions.  We make this information

         20  available to others through a website and other

         21  means.

         22                 As part of this work, I have seen the

         23  proliferation of flavored tobacco products, and I

         24  have observed how they are marketed, and I think you

         25  have heard from other speakers today, they are
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          2  marketed with excellent marketing strategies.  I

          3  have had a chance and an obligation really to

          4  consider their implications.

          5                 I am here today because I believe

          6  that it is in the interest of public health, and the

          7  people of New York City, that these products be

          8  banned.

          9                 Others have mentioned the agreement

         10  between R. J. Reynolds and the Attorneys Generals.

         11  While I applaud this agreement, and I believe it's a

         12  step in the right direction, it is not enough.  I

         13  say this for several reasons, including the fact

         14  that the Agreement does not address the important

         15  issue that would be covered by this resolution,

         16  including flavored cigars, and smokeless products,

         17  flavored cigarettes from other companies, and it

         18  also does not prevent R. J. Reynolds from offering

         19  new lines of flavored cigarettes under different

         20  packaging.

         21                 I will speak briefly about these

         22  specific points.

         23                 Smokeless tobacco is the one segment

         24  of the tobacco industry where sales are growing.  In

         25  recent years, smokeless tobacco companies have
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          2  introduced new flavored products, such as apple,

          3  berry and peach, and have expanded the marketing of

          4  their products to frame them as alternatives to

          5  quitting smoking in response to some of the Clean

          6  Indoor Air laws.

          7                 Flavoring may be a key to reaching

          8  youth because as previous speakers have mentioned,

          9  flavoring for products makes them easier for starter

         10  markets, and I think flavoring for smokeless

         11  tobacco, undoubtedly sweetens the taste of that, and

         12  makes it more appealing to youth and young adults.

         13                 In terms of cigars, sales are

         14  booming.  Perhaps of particular concern is recent

         15  research that shows that cigarette like little

         16  cigars are increasing in popularity with youth, and

         17  are being used as a replacement for frequently

         18  costlier cigarettes.  Here again, flavoring may

         19  encourage use by masking the taste, and it also

         20  encourages experimentation.

         21                 Both these trends are disturbing and

         22  could be addressed, at least in part, by this

         23  resolution.

         24                 In addition, the recent agreement

         25  does not affect marketing and sales of existing
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          2  flavored cigarettes from other companies such as

          3  Kretek International's Dreams line, we just saw an

          4  example of that, and it also leaves the door open

          5  for the development of new ones, new products by

          6  these companies and their marketing of them in ways

          7  that appeal to youth.

          8                 Finally, as an R. J. Reynolds

          9  spokesman was quoted in news articles as saying, RJR

         10   "can still sell flavored cigarettes in the future."

         11    That may be true, but hopefully, passage of this

         12  resolution will mean that they cannot sell them in

         13  New York City.

         14                 For now, RJR would apparently be

         15  allowed to market flavored cigarettes, even those

         16  with candy, fruit or alcohol names, in adult- only

         17  facilities or through marketing channels believed to

         18  be accessible only to adults.

         19                 In the study that's been mentioned

         20  before, the Roswell Park Study, about the use of

         21  flavored cigarettes, there were two groups that had

         22  the high rates, and each of them were about 20

         23  percent.  One was 17 year olds to whom marketing

         24  would be restricted by the Agreement with the

         25  Attorneys Generals, but the other group was 18 to 19
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          2  year olds, and they'd still be fair game for RJR, as

          3  they are for the others that are not mentioned in

          4  the Agreement.

          5                 Young adults, while they are not

          6  officially protected by many of our policy

          7  initiatives, constitute an appealing market for the

          8  industry, and not just because they are presently

          9  the youngest legal targets.  In addition to having

         10  among the highest rates of smoking, they are

         11  increasingly a starter market.  In the past we

         12  thought that most people who began smoking, started

         13  in early adolescence but recent studies have shown

         14  that a growing number are initiating smoking as

         15  young adults  There is probably a lot of reasons for

         16  these, but targeted marketing and flavored

         17  cigarettes are probably one of the reasons.

         18                 It's also true that marketing to

         19  young adults may indirectly influence teens, who

         20  seek to emulate their peers.

         21                 I'd also like to point out that

         22  although we are usually concerned about products

         23  encouraging experimentation among non- smoking,

         24  smoking initiation isn't the only behavior they can

         25  influence.  The products offer a variety of tempting
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          2  tastes and smells that may entice current and

          3  transitional smokers or other tobacco users to

          4  continue with the product, it might derail quit

          5  attempts, and it might lure people who have quit

          6  smoking to take it up again.

          7                 In closing, let me say that for all

          8  these reasons, and undoubtedly many more that you'll

          9  hear today, passage of this resolution is essential.

         10                 Again, thank you for considering this

         11  resolution and providing me with an opportunity to

         12  support it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         14                 Last but not least.

         15                 MS. FREEDMAN:  Good afternoon, my

         16  name is Corri Freedman.  I am from the American Lung

         17  Association in the City of New York, and I am

         18  actually presenting testimony on behalf of Cristine

         19  Delnevo, a professor and a colleague of Jane Lewis'

         20  at the University of Medicine and Dentistry of New

         21  Jersey.

         22                 So there is her testimony.  She is

         23  very sorry she couldn't be here today.  She just

         24  wanted to make sure that this was entered into the

         25  record.

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 Thank you for allowing me to submit

          3  testimony on Intro. 433, which would ban the sale of

          4  flavored cigarettes, cigars, and smokeless tobacco

          5  in New York City.

          6                 My name is Dr. Cristine Delnevo, I'm

          7  an Associate Professor at the UMDNJ, School of

          8  Public Health and a Tobacco Control researcher.

          9                 My testimony is specific to cigars.

         10  Annual cigar consumption in the United States has

         11  been increasing steadily since 1990, and overall

         12  more than doubled between 1990 and 2005.

         13                 While the mid- 1990's are referred to

         14  by many as the cigar boom, the cigar industry refers

         15  to the recent increases as a "renaissance."

         16                 The increase in cigar consumption is

         17  a concern because cigar use is often dismissed as a

         18  health issue.  However, even moderate cigar use

         19  carries significant health risks, including

         20  increased risk for heart and lung disease, and

         21  cancer, including but not limited to oral,

         22  esophageal, larynx and lung, compared to non-

         23  smokers.  Cigars have higher total nicotine content

         24  than cigarettes, and can deliver nicotine both

         25  through smoke and/or direct oral contact with the
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          2  tobacco wrapper.  The potential for cigars to create

          3  nicotine addiction is unquestionable.

          4                 Traditionally, cigar smoking in the

          5  United States was a behavior of older men but the

          6  industry's increased marketing of cigars to targeted

          7  groups reversed low rates of use among youth, young

          8  adults, and women.  The most recent data available

          9  nationally shows that past month cigar use

         10  significantly increased among adults from 4.8

         11  percent in 2000 to 5.8 percent in 2005, the highest

         12  rates are among males, ages 18 to 25 with roughly

         13  one out of four reporting past month cigar use.

         14                 Surveys also show widespread cigar

         15  use and experimentation among both male and female

         16  adolescents.  Indeed, rates of use among female

         17  adolescents have met or surpassed those of their

         18  adult counterparts.  Recent data from the 2004

         19  National Youth Tobacco Survey show no signs of a

         20  decline in current cigar use among either middle or

         21  high school students.  And in New Jersey, our

         22  research found more high school males reported

         23  smoking cigars and cigarettes.

         24                 It deserves mention that some young

         25  smokers who report using cigars may be engaging in a
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          2  practice known as "blunting," involving hollowing

          3  out the tobacco in the cigar and replacing it with

          4  marijuana.

          5                 According to research by Sifaneck,

          6  Johnson, and Dunlap, "alcoholic flavored tobacco

          7  products for smoking blunts are targeted

          8  strategically at both young alcohol and marijuana

          9  consumers who are beginning to establish preferences

         10  for specific brands and flavors of cigars for

         11  blunts."  And that "flavored cigars for blunts

         12  appear to be targeting the young female, and

         13  minority market niches."  Furthermore, blunt users

         14  report the flavoring of cigars makes the blunt

         15  sweeter, masking the bitter taste of the tobacco

         16  and/or the marijuana.  In addition, this flavoring

         17  often masks the smell of the marijuana.

         18                 According the industry reports,

         19  flavored cigars are responsible for the majority of

         20  growth in the cigar market. Indeed, the National

         21  Association of Convenience Stores reports that

         22  flavored cigars currently account for 40 percent of

         23  all large cigars sold.

         24                 Our own research suggests that sales

         25  in New Jersey parallels these national industry
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          2  trends.  Between 2003 and 2005, cigar consumption in

          3  New Jersey grew by four million sticks, almost two-

          4  thirds of that growth in cigar sales is attributed

          5  to the flavored cigars.  Flavored cigars are offered

          6  in both the large, including the cigarillo size, and

          7  small cigars, which are the size of cigarettes.

          8  Both have financial incentives.  The average unit

          9  price for a pack of small or little cigars is $2.20,

         10  and is considerably less expensive less expensive

         11  than that of cigarettes at $5.62 per pack, which was

         12  the national average in 2005, but as we all know is

         13  higher here in New York.  And among large cigars,

         14  the high- margin "single- stick" cigars, which are

         15  often flavored, have grown tremendously.  These

         16  single cigars are often sold for under one dollar.

         17                 Like cigarettes, cigar flavors come

         18  in fruit, candy and alcohol flavors.  Cigar flavors

         19  currently on the market include but are not limited

         20  to Sambuca, watermelon, grape, banana, berry,

         21  cherry, chocolate, cinnamon, coconut, Cognac, Green

         22  de menthe, honey, honey berry, peach, sour apple,

         23  strawberry and vanilla, among many others.

         24                 In summary, passing Intro. 433 will

         25  send a strong message to the tobacco industry that
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          2  they cannot continue to market cigars in candy,

          3  fruit and alcohol flavors to youth and young adults.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 First I want to thank each and every

          8  single one of you for being here today.

          9                 You have answered pretty much all the

         10  questions that we've already had developed but I

         11  just wanted to find out, the Department of Health

         12  stated that there's no research or studies to show

         13  that any of these efforts have worked in other

         14  municipalities.

         15                 How do you account for that?  I mean,

         16  they stated earlier that the research is not there

         17  in Nassau County or other municipalities to show

         18  that it has worked.  I want us to show how do we

         19  actually account for that statement.

         20                 MS. LEWIS:  I don't know that I can

         21  really answer that.  I'd need to  --  we would also

         22  need to do a little research, but some of these are

         23  relatively new laws, is that right?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes, pretty much

         25  2005 or 2006.
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          2                 MS. LEWIS:  And it may be that time

          3  requires to really show some change.  Plus of

          4  course, there's a lot of other social norms`things'

          5  going along around it, and you need to be able to

          6  account for those.

          7                 So, I can't say for sure but that

          8  would just be a guess.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Doctor.

         10                 MR. GEMSON:  Well, it's rare in

         11  public health that we have a randomized control

         12  trial that neatly lays out the data, but we have one

         13  very important piece of data, which is the study

         14  from Roswell Park, and that study found that 17 year

         15  olds smoked these flavored cigarettes at 23 percent,

         16  and 24 to 26 year olds at 9 percent.  That was a

         17  national study, and I think there is no question

         18  that youth, and really, underaged youth, because 17,

         19  you can't be 17 technically and have cigarettes sold

         20  to you, are smoking these cigarettes at a

         21  significantly higher rate.  We feel that's enough

         22  evidence to support your bill, and strongly support

         23  your bill.

         24                 MR. BERLIN:  I have a comment to

         25  make.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes.

          3                 MR. BERLIN:  You know, interestingly

          4  enough when you are looking at the immigrant

          5  population, Elmhurst is a very large immigrant

          6  population, we speak 140 languages, one of the

          7  things that we noticed is when you look at national

          8  statistics that talk about adult men, adult woman,

          9  approximately 20 percent smokers, the reality is

         10  that when you get to an adult, male immigrant

         11  population, it's more like 80 percent.  The reality

         12  in the clinic at Elmhurst Hospital, in the chest

         13  clinic, is that upwards of 80 percent of my adult

         14  male patients who were being referred are smokers.

         15  Eighty percent, that's a lot higher than national

         16  statistics because these undocumented workers  --

         17  day laborers in many cases, fall through the cracks,

         18  and don't have access to take part in computer

         19  surveys.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Go ahead.

         21                 MS. FREEDMAN:  I would just like to

         22  say that  -- to remind everybody that New York City

         23  is really an innovator in legislative efforts, and

         24  just like the Smoke Free Indoor Air Law, that has

         25  been copied throughout  --  replicated throughout
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          2  this country, this bill to ban flavored tobacco

          3  products really has the potential to set a

          4  nationwide standard, and I think we have a really

          5  unique and important opportunity.  The evidence is

          6  there, and this is really the chance for New York

          7  City to set a really strong precedent.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I just had one

          9  last follow up question.

         10                 We all know the ways that kids get

         11  the cigarettes, do we know which ones are the more

         12  predominant?  Do we know whether the kids are buying

         13  it mostly on their own, or do we know for a fact

         14  that they are getting adults or friends of older age

         15  to buy it for them?  Which is more prevalent?  Do we

         16  know that answer?  It's tough to say, right?

         17                 MS. LEWIS:  Yes, I can't really

         18  answer that.  I don't know.  I suppose it's both

         19  ways.

         20                 MR. BERLIN:  I think both are common.

         21                 MS. LEWIS:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Both are common,

         23  okay.

         24                 Well, thank you very much for being

         25  here with us, and for the record, you're microphone
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          2  wasn't on when you gave the initial testimony, so if

          3  you could just state your name.

          4                 MS. LEWIS:  I am Jane Lewis.

          5                 MS. FREEDMAN:  Corri Freedman on

          6  behalf of Cristine Delnevo.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 The next panel is David Remes from

         10  the R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, and Michael

         11  Madigan, also from R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company.

         12                 Gentlemen, thank you for joining us

         13  here today, you are on the`hot seat' as they say, so

         14  thank you for being here the entire time, and we

         15  look forward to our conversation.

         16                 You may begin with your testimony.

         17                 MR. REMES:  My name is David Remes.

         18  I am with the law firm of Covington and Burling in

         19  Washington, D.C., but I grew up in New York City,

         20  and I appreciate every chance I have to come back,

         21  even if it's to testify at a hearing where I am on

         22  the hot seat.

         23                 This is Mike Madigan, who's a lawyer

         24  with R. J. Reynolds.

         25                 I am going to talk very briefly about
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          2  the settlement agreement that's been referred to,

          3  and then I'll talk a little bit about the bill.

          4                 Mike is in a position to speak in

          5  more detail about the bill, excuse me is the  --

          6                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  The mic's not

          7  on.

          8                 MR. REMES:  The mic's not on?  I

          9  don't have to repeat myself, do I?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes, you have to

         11  start from the beginning.

         12                 No, just state your name again for

         13  the record, and pick up.

         14                 MR. REMES:  My name is David Remes.

         15  I am with Covington and Burling, which is an outside

         16  law firm for R. J. Reynolds.

         17                 I am going to speak briefly about the

         18  Settlement Agreement that's been discussed before,

         19  and also a little bit about the legislation that's

         20  been introduced.

         21                 First with respect to the Agreement

         22  between RJR and Attorneys General, RJR's entered

         23  into an agreement with 40 states represented by

         24  their Attorney's General, including Attorney General

         25  Spitzer that will prohibit, absolutely, RJR from
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          2  manufacturing and selling the brands that have given

          3  rise to this controversy.  They are all spelled out

          4  in the Agreement, and in the future, if RJR

          5  manufactures any cigarettes that can be considered

          6  flavored cigarettes, they can only be sold in "adult

          7  only" facilities, and they can only be advertised or

          8  marketed in adult only venues.  When I say adult

          9  only, I mean places where minors are not allowed.

         10                 One of the important things about the

         11  legislation is that it disclaims any intent to

         12  affect what's actually in the cigarette, and this is

         13  quite important because every cigarette uses flavors

         14  to create a distinct brand identity with other

         15  cigarettes.  There are very few cigarettes, maybe

         16  Reynolds Winston, is one of the few on the market

         17  that doesn't have any flavorings, and this gets into

         18  the area of legislation and why we thinks it's not

         19  only unnecessary, but also undesirable.

         20                 If you just look at the definition of

         21  characterizing flavor in this legislation, it says

         22   "any distinguishable taste or aroma experienced

         23  during consumption of a tobacco product, including

         24  but not limited to any such tastes or aromas

         25  relating to any fruit, chocolate, vanilla, et
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          2  cetera, and so forth."  The including but not

          3  limited to phrase is a phrase of inclusion, of

          4  universal inclusion.  That is, it is not limited

          5  here to the particular flavors that are mentioned.

          6  It can apply to all flavors, any flavors, because

          7  it's including but not limited to.  Then you have

          8  the phrase, "any such tastes or aromas relating to

          9  any flavor."  Well, that's really a model of

         10  vagueness.

         11                 As I say, every cigarette has a

         12  flavor.  Every cigarette is supposed to have a

         13  flavor as a means of competing with other brands

         14  that are on the market.  So, the problem with the

         15  legislation, unlike the Agreement, is that it has

         16  the potential to ban all cigarettes that are on the

         17  market, except for maybe Winston, and American

         18  Spirit or one of those cigarettes that don't have

         19  any additives at all.

         20                 I say that the legislation is

         21  unnecessary because the Attorneys General said in

         22  their Agreement that it satisfies their concerns on

         23  this issue.  That's Attorney General Spitzer

         24  speaking.  The agreement between RJR and the AG's

         25  satisfies the state's concern about flavored
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          2  cigarettes.  This Agreement is going to be shot by

          3  the Attorneys General to the other major cigarette

          4  companies, and the legislation on the other hand

          5  would get the City into the business, at best, of

          6  taste testing cigarettes on the market, and at

          7  worst, of prohibiting all cigarettes from being

          8  sold, simply by virtue of the way the legislation is

          9  drafted.  Only one other jurisdiction has passed

         10  this legislation, and that's the City of Chicago,

         11  and within six months they repealed the ordinance

         12  once they were aware of the consequences of how it

         13  could work.  No state has enacted this legislation.

         14  I would submit that it's both unnecessary and

         15  undesirable.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 I can turn it over to Mr. Madigan

         18  now, who can speak more about the Agreement.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         20                 Mr. Madigan.

         21                 MR. MADIGAN:  Good afternoon.  My

         22  name is Michael Madigan, and I am the Senior Counsel

         23  with R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company.  I have been in

         24  that position since 2000.

         25                 I was directly involved in the
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          2  negotiation of the recent Agreement with the 40

          3  state Attorneys General, including Attorney General

          4  Spitzer, concerning the specialty or so- called

          5   "flavored cigarettes."

          6                 After a five month multi- state

          7  investigation, and four months of negotiation over

          8  whether the marketing of these products violated the

          9  Master Settlement Agreement, the Attorneys General

         10  of the 40 states and R. J. Reynolds entered into an

         11  Agreement that bans the future sale of specific

         12  Camel, Cool and Salem flavored cigarettes in the

         13  United States.  While the Agreement does not ban the

         14  ingredients or additives of any particular

         15  ingredients or additives, the Agreement does impose

         16  significant restrictions on how these products may

         17  be marketed in the future, and according to many of

         18  the Attorney General's press releases, it "makes it

         19  virtually impossible for Reynolds to market a

         20  flavored cigarette to youth in the future."

         21                 In addition Attorney General Spitzer

         22  expressly acknowledged in the Agreement that it

         23  satisfies the State's concerns regarding these

         24  cigarettes.

         25                 The Agreement essentially codifies
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          2  what had been R. J. Reynolds' policy for about a

          3  year.  Our specialty cigarette brands will not be

          4  named or advertised with fruit, candy or alcoholic

          5  beverage names outside of adult- only communications

          6  and venues.  In fact, we voluntarily stopped

          7  manufacturing and selling the last three styles of

          8  these products earlier in 2006. The brand styles

          9  about which the investigation ensued represented

         10  less than one- tenth of one percent of R. J.

         11  Reynolds annual cigarette volume and represented .02

         12  percent of the share of the cigarette market in

         13  2005.  Very insignificant volumes.  They were sold

         14  in a limited number of stores at a non- discounted

         15  premium price that averaged about two dollars a pack

         16  more than a regular full- priced brand of

         17  cigarettes.

         18                 Like all of our brands, these

         19  specialty brand styles were designed for and tested

         20  among adult smokers. Notwithstanding claims about

         21  potential youth appeal, during the years these

         22  styles were in the market, 1999 through 2006, youth

         23  smoking rates declined nationally by more than 20

         24  percent, and none of these styles ever appeared on

         25  government- sponsored surveys of the brands that
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          2  were most popular amongst underaged smokers.

          3                 Just as flavored versions of liquor,

          4  beer and coffee appeal to adult consumers, adult

          5  smokers, too, told us they were interested in

          6  cigarettes  with different flavor accents.  Contrary

          7  to the suggestion by some, these cigarettes did not

          8  taste like "candy", "fruit" or "alcohol".  These

          9  cigarettes tasted like other cigarettes, with only

         10  modest flavor notes complementing the tobacco taste.

         11                 At the end of the day, we determined

         12  that the unintended perceptions these styles raised,

         13  and the concerns expressed by the Attorneys General

         14  and others, were best addressed by reaching an

         15  agreement that clearly sets forth how products like

         16  these must be marketed by Reynolds, and the other

         17  major cigarette manufacturers in the future.

         18                 In my written statement I outlined

         19  some of these marketing restrictions and the use of

         20  determining characterizing flavor, other than

         21  tobacco or menthol, and I don't want to belabor

         22  those restrictions right now.

         23                 The Attorneys General are committed

         24  to seeking similar agreements with the other major

         25  cigarette manufacturers. In fact, they are committed
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          2  to do that in the Agreement.

          3                 Finally, the Agreement will be

          4  enforceable by the Attorneys General, including the

          5  Attorney General of New York, to the same extent,

          6  and in the same manner as the Master Settlement

          7  Agreement.

          8                 The Agreement reached by R. J.

          9  Reynolds Tobacco Company and the Attorneys General

         10  representing 40 states is responsible, appropriate

         11  and resolves the issues that were of concern by the

         12  Attorneys General, and makes state and local

         13  legislation unnecessary and potentially duplicative

         14  of the New York Attorney Generals enforcement

         15  efforts.

         16                 R. J. Reynolds would be please to

         17  have an opportunity to present written comments

         18  about the proposed legislation and will supply them

         19  upon request, but the company has a variety of

         20  concerns with this legislation as drafted.

         21                 For example, virtually all cigarettes

         22  sold do contain some ingredients and additives

         23  intended to affect the flavor or aroma of the

         24  product.  Because the legislation broadly bans all

         25  cigarettes with ingredients that produce a
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          2  characterizing flavor or aroma, other than menthol

          3  or tobacco, Reynolds is concerned that this

          4  legislation as drafted could be interpreted by some

          5  as a ban on virtually all cigarettes, which is

          6  clearly not the intent I presume.

          7                 Further, Reynolds believes that this

          8  legislation fails to take into account the fact that

          9  flavors and aromas in all types of products in

         10  addition to cigarettes, directly appeal to adult

         11  consumers.  Reynolds is concerned that the

         12  legislation as drafted will operate to deprive adult

         13  tobacco consumers of the products that they desire

         14  in the future, as is reflected in the exceptions

         15  made for Clove and Hookah users who I presume are

         16  expected to be adults also.  But other adult tobacco

         17  users should not be treated any differently.

         18                 Thus, Reynolds believes that any

         19  prohibition on actual flavors and aromas should only

         20  extend to flavors and aromas with a predominant

         21  youth appeal.

         22                 More importantly, we believe that

         23  this legislation is unnecessary because the model

         24  Agreement we have reached with the State of New York

         25  better addresses all of these issues because it lets

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  manufacturers produce products that adult consumers

          3  want, while restricting how and when they can be

          4  advertised and marketed to minimize the risks of

          5  potential youth appeal or exposure.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. REMES:  If I may just make one

          8  small, additional comment which is, I haven't heard,

          9  at least as far as cigarettes are concerned of any

         10  company other than RJR that's been accused of

         11  manufacturing and marketing and selling these

         12  products.  Yet, it's RJR that's entered into this 40

         13  State Agreement with the Attorneys General.

         14                 So one can speak about this issue of

         15  flavored cigarettes in the abstract, but if you look

         16  at the actual, concrete reality the one company

         17  that's been the source of the controversy of this

         18  issue has resolved the matter to the satisfaction of

         19  the States.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you, I

         21  guess I will be the only one asking questions at

         22  this point.

         23                 Just wanted to find out, Mr. Madigan,

         24  you stated in your statement that candy flavored

         25  cigarettes only represents about one percent of R.
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          2  J. Reynolds annual cigarette volume, and represented

          3    --

          4                 MR. MADIGAN:  I am sorry, one- tenth

          5  of a percent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  --  One- tenth

          7  of a percent. How big is the tobacco industry in the

          8  United States?  How many billions of dollars?

          9                 MR. MADIGAN:  I have no--

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  It's a multi-

         11  billion dollar industry?

         12                 MR. MADIGAN:  Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  So, one- tenth

         14  of a multi billion dollar industry is a substantial

         15  market.

         16                 MR. MADIGAN:  Well actually, one-

         17  tenth of one percent, we're talking about number of

         18  packs sold by R. J. Reynolds.  So, one- tenth of one

         19  percent would represent the amount of cigarette

         20  volume in that category.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  So how much

         22  money was made last year with the sale of candy

         23  flavored cigarettes?

         24                 MR. MADIGAN:  I have no idea.  It

         25  would depend on the jurisdiction  --  every
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          2  jurisdiction has different taxes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Nationally, do

          4  we know how many packs?

          5                 MR. MADIGAN:  No, I really don't

          6  know.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.

          8                 MR. REMES:  It would be one- tenth of

          9  one percent of 25 percent of the market, and I don't

         10  have specific market figures, but that is  --

         11                 MR. MADIGAN:  Twenty- five

         12  representing roughly what R. J. Reynolds  --

         13  roughly what our share of the market is.

         14                 MR. REMES:  But the point is that RJR

         15  has agreed to stop selling these cigarettes, and has

         16  agreed to stop marketing any other flavored

         17  cigarettes to minors in the future, if that's what

         18  the States are accusing RJR of having done in the

         19  past.

         20                 So as far as RJR is concerned, I'd

         21  say that this is a solution in search of a problem.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Now, how many

         23  different brands exist?

         24                 I know there's a hundred and some odd

         25  different categories of candy flavored cigarettes.
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          2  Do we know the overall universe  --

          3                 MR. MADIGAN:  I'd like to say when

          4  the Attorneys General launched their investigation

          5  in December of`05, I believe R. J. Reynolds only had

          6  three brand styles that still would fall within that

          7  category of flavored cigarettes, and those three

          8  brand styles we stopped manufacturing in the second

          9  quarter of`05.  There just wasn't any volume to

         10  justify or warrant them to continue to be sold.

         11                 MR. REMES:  I don't know where the

         12  figure `hundreds' comes from but the Agreement that

         13  Mr. Madigan has passed out between RJR and the

         14  Attorneys General lists the brand styles at issue,

         15  and I doubt that there are more than 25 brand styles

         16  here, and all of them RJR has agreed to stop

         17  manufacturing absolutely 100 percent.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, just a

         19  couple of more questions.  I just wanted to find out

         20  one of the biggest issues that we've heard today is

         21  the opportunity for RJR and other companies to re-

         22  brand themselves in another way, shape or form, and

         23  still sell these types of cigarettes and market

         24  these types of cigarettes.

         25                 What is your response to that?  Do
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          2  you have any intentions of re- branding your

          3  products?

          4                 MR. REMES:  Well I think what the

          5  Agreement provides is that RJR is still permitted to

          6  manufacture and sell cigarettes that would meet the

          7  definition of flavored cigarettes in this Agreement,

          8  but only in adult- only facilities and marketed only

          9  through adult- only communications.

         10                 Mr. Madigan may speak to it better

         11  than I can, but I don't think that any of these

         12  particular brands are contemplated being sold

         13  anymore.

         14                 MR. MADIGAN:  That's correct.  The

         15  defining term`investigative brand style' includes a

         16  couple of dozen brand styles which are no longer,

         17  and have not been manufactured for a while, and they

         18  won't be in the future.  They are banned forever.  As

         19  to whether or not we would engage in producing what

         20  you would call flavored cigarettes in the future, I

         21  don't know the answer to that because the future is

         22  a long time.

         23                 If past history  --  I mean, these

         24  things didn't sell very well frankly, and if there

         25  was any learning derived from that, in that same
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          2  iteration I'd be surprised if they came out in that

          3  same  --  it just didn't sell very well.  So, I

          4  think there's some learning involved there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, what would

          6  constitute an adult- only medium of advertising, or

          7  how do you differentiate where you  --  because I do

          8  know that when you pass by certain neighborhood

          9  grocery stores, you see the marketing right on the

         10  outside of the store itself or inside the store

         11  marketing these products.

         12                 So, how do you differentiate the

         13  adults from the kids in that type of situation?

         14                 MR. MADIGAN:  Well, I want to correct

         15  something that David said.  The marketing

         16  restrictions in the Agreement with the Attorneys

         17  General talk about what the brand styles can be

         18  named.  So you can't have candy or fruit or

         19  alcoholic beverage names in the brand styles like

         20  we've had in the past, and it restricts  --  if we

         21  want to talk about certain flavor notes that a

         22  cigarette might have that is a flavored cigarette,

         23  we can only do that in age restricted

         24  communications.

         25                 The Master Settlement Agreement talks
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          2  about  -- defines adult- only facilities as a

          3  facility that the operator has reason to believe

          4  does not have any minors, or people who are under

          5  the legal age to purchase tobacco.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  What would that

          7  be?

          8                 MR. MADIGAN:  Bars that card at the

          9  door, and where there's a bouncer there that are

         10  preventing the access to minors.  That is an

         11  example.

         12                 Other examples of how we market the

         13  type  --  if we were to go into the flavored

         14  category in the future, we have a website and we

         15  have direct mail, and everybody on our direct mail

         16  mailing list are age verified, certified adult

         17  smokers who are adults, and defined to be adults in

         18  the state where they reside. So, it would be 18 in

         19  the state of New York, 19 in the state of New

         20  Jersey.

         21                 MR. REMES:  May I add to that?

         22                 Adult only facilities is a defined

         23  terms in the Master Settlement Agreement, which is

         24  incorporated here.  It basically means any facility

         25  to which minors are not allowed access, and you
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          2  can't advertise to the outside from such facilities.

          3    Any advertising would have to be inside only, and

          4  it's places that are simply off limits to kids, and

          5  anybody who looks like they might be under 27, has

          6  to be carded.  This has been the practice since the

          7  Master Settlement Agreement has been in force since

          8  1998.  It applies with respect to any number of

          9  advertising and promotional practices, including the

         10  distribution of cigarette samples, and the Agreement

         11  brings the flavored cigarette issue into line with

         12  the Master Settlement Agreement.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, just

         14  wanted to touch base on something you mentioned.

         15                 You said in your direct mail and e-

         16  mail marketing or whatever type of marketing you

         17  have that you verified the age through your

         18  questionnaire.  How do you verify that a kid is just

         19  not saying`yes I am 18 years old, and I was born on

         20  October 24, 19- whatever'?  Do you require maybe a

         21  state ID number to verify that that is a valid age,

         22  because I do know when you get some of these surveys

         23  it doesn't ask for anything that verifies your real

         24  age, it just asks for your date of birth, your

         25  telephone number, I mean, your date of birth, your
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          2  name and your address.  It doesn't go any steps

          3  further than that.

          4                 So my question is, are you asking for

          5  any other type of identification to verify that a

          6  kid is just not, for lack of a better term, just

          7  lying?

          8                 MR. REMES:  Good question, thank you.

          9                 When I say`age verified' it's

         10  contrasted with`age certified.'  Certified would be

         11  something that somebody self- certifies, "I am 18",

         12  and they could be lying.  Age verification means

         13  there is some third party verification of that age

         14  certification.  For example, if someone is

         15  intercepted in a bar and we want to talk to them

         16  about a tobacco product, even though they're carded

         17  at the door we would card them again, and in fact,

         18  before they're distributed anything, we take a photo

         19  of their ID, and that's our age verification within

         20  an AOF.

         21                 For data base purposes, we have third

         22  party vendors that we do business with and they

         23  compile age data based on credit card information

         24  and other, sort of, publicly available information.

         25                 So, if you're John Doe on Elm Street
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          2  in somewhere in New York, and it's not  --  a good

          3  number of our age verifications occur that way, and

          4  if we can't age verify it, we sent a response to the

          5  addressee and tell them they have to send a copy of

          6  their government issued ID, a drivers license for

          7  example.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay so walk me

          9  through it just so I better understand it.

         10                 I guess this happens more in direct

         11  mail or in e mail type of advertising format, not

         12  more so in the clubs or the doors of bars, but if I

         13  receive some information from you, I have to put in

         14  my name, my telephone number, my address, my date of

         15  birth, and what else?  My credit card information,

         16  or is the third party individual going to then do a

         17  background check on the name, the date of birth, and

         18  the address, and then tell you if they have any

         19  credit cards?  What if I have no credit cards?

         20                 MR. REMES:  You'll almost certainly

         21  have a drivers license.  Third party data bases

         22  typically service a whole variety of industries,

         23  they're not just set up for the tobacco industry

         24  where you need to verify identity, and that's what's

         25  done through cross checking with respect to on- line
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          2  communications and direct mail communications.

          3                 MR. MADIGAN:  These age verification

          4  techniques that we use have been disclosed to

          5  Attorney General Spitzer's office, and they are well

          6  familiar with all of our age verification techniques

          7  and what's involved with that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, I guess my

          9  last questions will be based on the age itself, the

         10  age increase proposal that we have.

         11                 What is your opinion in reference to

         12  the 19 and to the 21 year old proposals?

         13                 MR. REMES:  We're not here on that

         14  issue.  We don't have a position to express but I'd

         15  be glad to put the RJR people and Winston Salem in

         16  touch with you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, thank you

         18  very much gentlemen.

         19                 MR. REMES:  Thank you.

         20                 MR. MADIGAN:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, the next

         22  panel will consist of Tatianna who I met with

         23  earlier from ACTION, Renard Correa Jr. From ACTION

         24  also at The Point, Michele Bonan on behalf of

         25  Russell Sciandra, the Center for a Tobacco Free New
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          2  York, and Joanne Koldare from the New York City

          3  Coalition for a Smokefree City.  So, it's Tatianna,

          4  Renard, Michele and Joanne.

          5                 Thank you very much.  Just state your

          6  name for the record, and you may begin.

          7                 MR. CORREA:  Hello, my name is Renard

          8  Correa.  I work with ACTION.  I am 17 years old, and

          9  I am one of the millions of youth targeted by big

         10  tobacco.

         11                 Everywhere I go I see catch ads using

         12  attractive women and hip- hop imagery to try to lure

         13  us into becoming replacement smokers for the

         14  thousands of people dying because of cigarette use

         15  each year.

         16                 This happens especially in urban

         17  communities.  I have two younger sisters, and it

         18  would break my heart to see them fall victim to

         19  tobacco's maniacal and manipulative ways.  Smoking

         20  isn't cool, and it won't get you the girl in the ads

         21  as you see, and it won't make you popular.  All you

         22  end up with is respiratory infections such as lung

         23  cancer and stuff, and a shorter life span.

         24                 Please help us to stop this by

         25  helping us pass the bill.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

          3                 MR. CORREA:  Thank you.

          4                 MS. ECHEVARRIA:  Hi everyone, my name

          5  is Tatianna Echevarria, and I am Vice President of

          6  ACTION at the Point, located in the south Bronx.

          7                 I am one of the many teens in New

          8  York City and probably further that is affected by

          9  tobacco use, and targeted by the tobacco industry.

         10                 ACTION and I have done our best to

         11  educate the youth in our community about flavored

         12  tobacco use.  We have collected endorsement cards

         13  which represents teens and other Hunts Point

         14  community members who support our campaign.  We have

         15  also conducted surveys in Hunts Point and discovered

         16  that 20 percent of males and females under the age

         17  of 18, in the Hunts Point community, are already

         18  smokers.  With the flavored tobacco products being

         19  targeted to towards teens, how many more are

         20  starting to smoke, and how many more will eventually

         21  die from its effects?

         22                 Urban communities such as Hunts Point

         23  that are victims of this industry tend to have less

         24  health care and fewer resources within their reach.

         25                 On a personal note, this issue is
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          2  near and dear to my heart because my mother is a

          3  smoker and my younger brother has asthma.  I will do

          4  everything I can to prevent him from falling victim

          5  to tobacco products.

          6                 The only way to stop this from

          7  happening is to pass this bill that we are here to

          8  support today.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         11                 MS. BORAN:  Hi, my name is Michele

         12  Bonan, and I am from the American Cancer Society but

         13  today I am reading the testimony of Russell

         14  Sciandra.  He is the Director of the Center for a

         15  Tobacco Free New York.  Unfortunately Russ Sciandra

         16  wanted to be here today but is attending a meeting

         17  of the CDC in Atlanta.

         18                 Mr. Chairman and members of the

         19  Committee, thank you for this opportunity to

         20  present.

         21                 The legislation before you bans the

         22  sale of candy, fruit and liquor flavored tobacco

         23  products, including cigarettes, chewing tobacco,

         24  cigars and loose tobacco.  Exempted are products to

         25  which menthol and clove flavorings have been added.
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          2                 An important function of the

          3  flavorings affected by this legislation is to mask

          4  from smokers, particularly new smokers, the harsh

          5  and toxic properties of tobacco smoke and spit

          6  tobacco.

          7                 A review of tobacco industry internal

          8  documents discovered during the course of litigation

          9  shows that tobacco companies have long regarded

         10  flavored merchandise as "starter" products from

         11  which teenage and younger experimenters will

         12   "graduate" to adult mainstream brands.  This tactic

         13  is especially prevalent in the marketing of

         14  cigarettes, smokeless tobacco and little cigars.

         15                 Attached to your testimony is an

         16  article by Dr. Greg Connolly analyzing the marketing

         17  of smokeless tobacco to youth through the

         18  development of low nicotine and frequently flavored

         19  starter products.  The third page of Dr. Connolly's

         20  article depicts US Tobacco's "graduation strategy"

         21  in a chart prepared by the company's marketing

         22  department.  The plan is to begin users with Skoal

         23  and Happy Days brand products, the majority of which

         24  are flavored mint, wintergreen or "sweet" and then

         25  gradually promote them to the full- nicotine,
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          2  tobacco flavored Copenhagen brand.  A memo quoted in

          3  the article describes "three products of three

          4  different tastes and strengths of nicotine: A.) High

          5  nicotine, strong tobacco flavor.  B.) Medium

          6  strength of nicotine, using a Happy Days products

          7  which comes in three flavors, "natural, sweet and

          8  mint."  C.)  Low nicotine, sweet product, "do we

          9  flavor this product with honey, chocolate or

         10  vanilla?"

         11                 We now know that this marketing

         12  campaign was tremendously successful.  From 1970,

         13  when it began, to 1991, the prevalence of snuff use

         14  among adult males more than doubled, and among males

         15  18 to 24 it increased six- fold.

         16                 In 1990, more than one in four white

         17  male high school students in the U.S. Used smokeless

         18  tobacco.

         19                 The cigarette companies observed this

         20  success and long considered following suit.  A 1972

         21  Brown and Williamson memo states, "apples connote

         22  goodness and freshness and we see many possibilities

         23  for our youth- oriented cigarette with this flavor.

         24  It's a well known fact that teenagers like sweet

         25  products, honey might be considered."
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          2                 A 1974 RJR memo describes another new

          3  quote, "cigarette designed for beginning smokers,

          4  this cigarette would be low in irritation and

          5  possibly contain an added flavor to make it easier

          6  for those who have never smoked before to acquire

          7  the taste for it more quickly."  The idea is based

          8  on the fact that "smoking to the initiate is a

          9  fairly traumatic experience."

         10                 It took years, however, for the

         11  cigarette manufacturers to develop a way to impart

         12  consistent and acceptable flavor in their cigarette

         13  smoke.  Simply impregnating tobacco with a flavor

         14  didn't work because burning changes that flavor, and

         15  there were problems with flavors degrading on the

         16  shelf.

         17                 Over the last few years these

         18  companies, since merged, began marketing flavored

         19  extensions of their most popular products.  The

         20  technical breakthrough that allowed Reynolds and

         21  Brown and Williamson to begin selling flavored

         22  Camels and Kools was a plastic bead impregnated with

         23  flavor and embedded in the filter.  When hot smoke

         24  passes over the bead, flavor and odor is released.

         25                 Recently Reynolds American, which now
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          2  incorporates RJR and Brown and Williamson signed an

          3  Agreement with 38 state Attorneys General to stop

          4  selling candy, fruit and alcohol flavored

          5  cigarettes, and agreed to restrictions on the

          6  marketing of any such products in the future.

          7                 While we welcome this Agreement, we

          8  believe it does not negate the need for this

          9  legislation.  Currently only Reynolds is signatory

         10  to the Agreement.  Nothing prevents another small or

         11  large company from attempting this gimmick in the

         12  future, and secondly, Reynolds simply cannot be

         13  trusted to keep its word.

         14                 In July, federal judge Gladys Kessler

         15  issued a ruling in the federal racketeering suit

         16  against major cigarette manufacturers, United States

         17  versus Philip Morris, et cetera. She found that the

         18  tobacco companies "have intentionally marketed to

         19  young people, in order to recruit replacement

         20  smokers' to ensure the economic future of the

         21  industry."  She found that the companies "marketing

         22  is a substantial contributing factor to youth

         23  smoking initiation, and that they target youth

         24  through advertising, direct mail, retail promotions,

         25  events and sponsorships.  Noting that the companies

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  deny their marketing influences youth, Judge Kessler

          3  found the "defendants' explanation of their

          4  marketing practices is not credible."

          5                 Keep in mind as you listen to their

          6  arguments against this legislation Judge Kessler's

          7  finding that the tobacco companies sell:  "a highly

          8  addictive product which causes a staggering number

          9  of deaths, an immeasurable amount of human suffering

         10  and economic loss, and a profound burden on our

         11  national health care system.  The tobacco companies

         12  have known many of these facts for at least 50 years

         13  or more.  Despite that knowledge, they have

         14  consistently, repeatedly and with enormous skill and

         15  sophistication, denied these facts to the public,

         16  the Government, and to the public health community."

         17                      Thank you.

         18                      CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         19                      MS. KOLDARE:  Good afternoon

         20  council members of the Health Committee, and

         21  Chairman Rivera.

         22                      My name is Joanne Koldare.  I am

         23  the Director of New York Coalition for a Smokefree

         24  City, and I appreciate the opportunity to speak here

         25  today on behalf of the Coalition and also to read
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          2  testimony from the paper that was done by doctors

          3  Carrie Carpenter and Doctor Greg Connolly from the

          4  Harvard School of Public Health, and you will have

          5  those copies within your possession and with the

          6  paper in its entirety.

          7                 I want to start by saying that I have

          8  been in tobacco control for ten years, and over that

          9  time period I have had the opportunity to meet many

         10  victims and their families, probably the most heart

         11  wrenching and horrific  --  there's a story about a

         12  New York girl who died at age 27 from lung cancer,

         13  stated smoking at age 13.  She is that picture of

         14  the target initiate smoker that the tobacco industry

         15  has been after.

         16                 Wouldn't it be wonderful if the

         17  tobacco industry didn't have to replace dying

         18  consumers with kids who are going to die in the

         19  future?  Unfortunately, that's the sad reality and

         20  what it leads to is the more deceptive and more

         21  creative product promotion in marketing that are

         22  going to get under the radar and continue to addict

         23  children.

         24                 No one action is the single factor

         25  that is going to reduce youth smoking and access to
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          2  tobacco products.  We commend all of your actions to

          3  create a comprehensive tobacco control program.

          4                 It was mentioned today and earlier,

          5  that a key component in evidence- based tobacco

          6  control is to reduce youth desire by changing the

          7  image of cigarettes and tobacco, and I would submit

          8  that flavored cigarettes that we see here today, the

          9  cherry, the rum, another that isn't here

         10  called`strawberry flavored liquid zoo`, they are

         11  changing the image in the totally wrong direction,

         12  and where is the slippery slope going to end, if we

         13  don't stop it?  Cookies and Creme flavored

         14  cigarettes?  I hope not.

         15                 I would like to also mention that it

         16  was said earlier that the market share of flavored

         17  cigarettes constituted a tenth of a percent, and

         18  would like to clarify what we believe is the real

         19  investment.  That it is not current market share but

         20  it is the seduction of youth through these

         21  cigarettes to become further addicted full

         22  consumers, and that is the investment in its future,

         23  and I believe that market share is a lot larger.

         24                 Also which has been stated before,

         25  was that while RJR is sitting, telling you that they
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          2  are  --  that we shouldn't go on with legislation

          3  because they're going to stop production of candy

          4  flavored cigarettes, they're only one of many, many

          5  groups that produce this type of cigarette.  In

          6  fact, they weren't even the first to start it, and I

          7  think the two here  -- let's see, this one is by

          8  Kretek, and this one was made in the Dominican

          9  Republic, it doesn't say exactly who it's from but

         10  it's not an RJR product and I believe we will submit

         11  many, many others that are not part of their brands.

         12                 I would like to move from this to

         13  reading the paper by doctors Connolly and Carpenter.

         14    Unfortunately, Carrie Carpenter said she would

         15  love to be here today, however, she is pregnant and

         16  due on this date.  So, in lieu of her being here I'd

         17  like to read their paper:  New Cigarette Brands With

         18  Flavors That Appeal to Youth; Tobacco Marketing

         19  Strategies.  This was published in Health Affairs,

         20  November, December 2005, Volume 24, Number Six, and

         21  it reads:

         22                 The purpose of our study was to

         23  review internal industry research on flavored

         24  cigarettes and novel flavor technologies that are

         25  being used to possibly target youth.
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          2                 Specifically, we examined the use of

          3  flavors to target youth, including differences in

          4  flavor preferences as well as product design and

          5  marketing strategies.

          6                 The new study drew on findings from

          7  internal tobacco industry documents, US Patent

          8  applications, and a physical examination of selected

          9  brands, including Camel Exotic Blends cigarettes

         10  performed to identify the presence of unique flavor-

         11  delivery systems.

         12                 Our research showed that within the

         13  tobacco industry the appeal of flavored cigarettes

         14  has long been associated with specific consumer

         15  populations, particularly young and novice smokers.

         16  And we know who they are.  Statements included an

         17  internal industry documents from various cigarette

         18  manufacturers provided evidence of this association.

         19    Example, "in 1993 a Lorillard document observed

         20  growing interest in new flavored sensations ie: Soft

         21  drinks, snack foods, among younger adult consumers

         22  may indicate new opportunities for enhanced flavor

         23  products, flavored tobacco products, that could

         24  leverage Newports current strength among young,

         25  adult smokers."  Now notice, they don't say adult
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          2  smokers, younger is a key word here.

          3                 Another quote as summarized in an

          4  undated RJR document describing the early

          5  development of flavored cigarettes, "flavored

          6  cigarettes appeal to women and young smokers."

          7  Again, no mention of the adult smoker.

          8                 Internal industry studies of

          9  differences in taste and flavor preferences by age

         10  group confirm that younger smokers are more open to

         11  unique and exotic flavors than older counterparts.

         12  Additionally, industry research in findings

         13  suggested that young and novice smokers may be

         14  especially vulnerable to product benefits of

         15  flavored cigarettes.  For example, Philip Morris

         16  identified a number of possible benefits to young

         17  smokers related to flavors including increased

         18  social acceptance because of a pleasant aroma and

         19  after taste, increased excitement about sharing

         20  flavors, smoking enjoyment, and a high curiosity to

         21  try the new flavor factor.

         22                 I will just go to the last page.

         23  Lorillard in 1991, their comment was, "given young

         24  adults proclivity towards flavors in other

         25  categories, soft drinks, wine coolers, a flavor
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          2  enhanced menthol product may appeal to these

          3  smokers."  These are several of many, many other

          4  quotes from the industry that would indicate there

          5  is an absolute association between their research

          6  into flavors and their desire to target youth.

          7                 Going back to the Connolly and

          8  Carpenter paper, "our research indicated that

          9  manufacturers would capitalize on youth attraction

         10  to candy flavors."  Internal documents also showed

         11   "that the industry pursued a wide range of newer,

         12  non conventional flavor technologies to address the

         13  goal of unique flavor delivery."  They used

         14  innovative product technology such as the "flavor

         15  pellet" which Michele mentioned imbedded in filters

         16  of some of RJR's flavored cigarettes to deliver

         17  fruit and liquor flavors.  Our physical examination

         18  found that the pellet was present in a variety of

         19  Camel Exotic Blends.  The pellets represent in these

         20  different brands that they had the same appearance,

         21  color, size and shape but could not be distinguished

         22  by the naked eye.  Flavor pellets are a key, new

         23  technology enabling the introduction of a variety of

         24  exotic Camel's flavors.

         25                 One other thing that was mentioned is
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          2  that the industry has been trying for years to come

          3  up with a flavor technology that lasts long enough

          4  and stays with a consistent flavor, and the flavor

          5  pellet was the one that was selected.             However

          6  , past research by Wayne and Connolly shows that

          7  flavored cigarettes can promote youth initiation and

          8  help young, occasional smokers to become daily

          9  smokers by reducing or masking the natural harshness

         10  and taste of tobacco smoke and increasing the

         11  acceptability of a toxic product.  We submit that

         12  that is the intention.

         13                 Regulatory action is an appropriate

         14  response to the serious health concerns raised by

         15  the introduction of new product delivery

         16  technologies, such as the flavor pellet in the Camel

         17  Exotic Blend Twist cigarette filter.  Little is

         18  known regarding the delivery characteristics or

         19  possible health risks associated with these

         20  products.  So, we're even looking at the pellet and

         21  has it been determined that this is non- toxic.  The

         22  use of the flavor technologies has not been publicly

         23  disclosed to public health officials, and in the

         24  case of the flavor pellet, the devise is concealed

         25  from the consumer unless the pellet is dislodged
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          2  from the filter and exposed.  The limited

          3  availability of internal industry testing clearly

          4  underscores the need for independent studies to

          5  assess the effects of new technologies on the

          6  delivery and toxicity of these products.

          7                 In conclusion, our research was

          8  supportive of the recent Attorneys General's consent

          9  order with RJR Reynolds Tobacco Company related to

         10  the marketing of flavored cigarettes. Although one

         11  company has agreed not to sell candy flavored

         12  cigarettes, many still do, particularly small

         13  manufactures of other tobacco products.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 At this point in time if there are no

         18  questions, we will call the next panel.

         19                 Since we do have a good response of

         20  people that want to testify, we are going to have to

         21  put the clock on because we will run over the

         22  allotted time for today's hearing.

         23                 So we have for the next panelists

         24  Matt Barry from the Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids,

         25  Yesenia Adorno also, and then Chanely Frontaan, and
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          2  David Ferreras from Reality Check, and Robert

          3  Shepherd as well.

          4                 We do apologize, we do have to put

          5  the clock on. We have a three minute clock, so I'll

          6  ask the Sergeant- At- Arms to make sure we have the

          7  clock put on.

          8                 So again, we have Matt Barry, Yesenia

          9  Adorno, Chanely Frontaan, David Ferreras, and Robert

         10  Shepherd as well.

         11                 Anyone can begin, just state your

         12  name for the record.  Again, we do have a three

         13  minute clock because we do have another panel as

         14  well.

         15                 Thank you very much for joining us.

         16                 MR. BARRY:  Good afternoon Chairman

         17  Rivera and members of the Health Committee.

         18                 My name is Matthew Barry, and I am

         19  Director of Policy Research at the Campaign for

         20  Tobacco Free Kids based in Washington, D.C.

         21                 Regarding your proposal on flavored

         22  tobacco products, we are here today to lend our full

         23  support for legislative efforts, like this one, that

         24  will help protect our children from the unrelenting

         25  and outrageous efforts of the tobacco industry to
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          2  hook our children with tobacco products flavored

          3  with fruit and candy flavors.

          4                 This issue is quite simple.  It is

          5  about common sense and about protecting our kids.

          6  Tobacco products are deadly enough without tobacco

          7  companies making market products that look, sound

          8  and taste like a new line of flavors from Ben &

          9  Jerry's Ice Cream.

         10                 I want to stress a couple of key

         11  points.

         12                 One, there is scientific evidence

         13  that shows the use of flavored cigarettes is by far

         14  most common amongst smokers aged 17 to 19.

         15                 Two, a March 2006 survey found that

         16  kids were more than twice a likely than adults to

         17  recall seeing new flavored tobacco products or

         18  advertisements for them.

         19                 Three, a local action is needed

         20  because the Federal government has abdicated its

         21  responsibility on this issue.

         22                 This legislation is necessary only

         23  because tobacco products are the only consumer

         24  products ingested or inhaled by consumers that are

         25  not regulated by for health and safety purposes by
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          2  the Federal government.  While a strong bill to

          3  regulate tobacco products has passed the U.S. Senate

          4  twice, the House Majority leadership, with the aid

          5  of the R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, killed the

          6  bill in Conference Committee.

          7                 Four, the recent action like 41

          8  states Attorneys General in which R. J. Reynolds

          9  agreed to stop marketing fruit and candy flavored

         10  cigarettes, while a good agreement and beneficial

         11  for public health, does not preclude the need for

         12  this legislation.  Further, this legislation will

         13  not result in a ban on cigarettes.  Also if you

         14  think the RJR isn't smart enough to figure out a way

         15  around this Agreement, think again.  Also I think

         16  RJR who just testified, just created a new flavor;

         17  Camel BS.

         18                 Five, the tobacco industry has not

         19  changed, including R. J. Reynolds.  In her recent

         20  ruling against the tobacco industry, what you've

         21  heard about from Judge Kessler, she found that "the

         22  evidence is clear and convincing, and beyond any

         23  reasonable doubt that defendants have marketed to

         24  young people, 21 and under, while consistently,

         25  publicly and falsely denying they do so.
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          2                 Six, don't think that manufacturing

          3  and marketing fruit and candy flavored tobacco

          4  products is limited to cigarette companies.

          5  Smokeless tobacco companies, like U. S. Smokeless

          6  Tobacco, North American Swedish Match, have a long

          7  line of fruit and candy flavored products, cigars

          8  also.  Oddly Mr. Chairman, one of the biggest makers

          9  of flavored tobacco products has been exempted from

         10  this proposal, specifically Hookah tobacco products

         11  which, by comparison, have more fruit, candy and

         12  dessert flavors than all other tobacco categories,

         13  with the exception of cigars, combines.  So, we

         14  strongly recommend the inclusion in this proposal.

         15                 Quickly on the legal purchase age, we

         16  are supportive of rasing the purchase age to 21,

         17  specifically we believe some relevant considerations

         18  are existing age restrictions are effective, 21

         19  years has been an effective way to reduce alcohol

         20  access, 18 to 20 years is a critical age when kids

         21  transition from occasional to daily use of tobacco.

         22  If New York City decides to raise the minimum age of

         23  sale, there are a few components that we feel are

         24  critical.

         25                 One, a rigorous enforcement
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          2  provision.

          3                 Two, the proposal should be phased in

          4  so as to grandfather in existing tobacco users who

          5  are 18 to 21.

          6                 Three, the proposal should include a

          7  rigorous evaluation for the impact of such a

          8  proposal.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Next please.

         13                 MS. ADORNO:  Hi, my name is Yesenia

         14  Adorno, and I am the Secretary of ACTION at The

         15  Point CDC.

         16                 I missed school today to be here so I

         17  can be heard and let the City of New York know the

         18  effect that tobacco has had on my life, and that I'm

         19  here to support the bill to ban flavored tobacco

         20  products.

         21                 I've personally seen the effects that

         22  tobacco has on people, and I want to prevent the

         23  younger generations and the young members of my own

         24  family from going through the suffering tobacco can

         25  cause and has caused me.  When I was younger, I
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          2  caught a respiratory infection from smoking.

          3                 The reason I stated smoking was

          4  because the flavors were so tempting.  My favorite

          5  was vanilla Black and Mild, and as a matter of fact,

          6  my friends were promoting it at school.  The

          7  cigarettes were sweet and tasted good.  They came in

          8  packs of four, and I would smoke a pack a day.

          9                 But now I am older and wiser, and

         10  smoke free for the most part, although many of my

         11  friends are still smoking.

         12                 I would really appreciate it if this

         13  bill was passed to prevent my younger sister,

         14  nephews, and nieces from getting tempted to try

         15  these flavors, and I would like to thank you for

         16  hearing my statement today.

         17                 MR. FERRERAS:  Hello, okay, I am here

         18  today to testify against tobacco and candy flavored

         19  cigarettes such as these, Dreams and Chocolate

         20  Mocha.

         21                 I saw here it says, "Surgeon

         22  General's warnings: Quitting smoking now greatly

         23  reduces serious risks to your health."  Why didn't

         24  they tell us that before we buy it?  So, we buy it,

         25  we're smoking it and reading it at the same time.
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          2  That's not helping anybody.  Like, "oh, this feels

          3  great", except for the warning.  That's not really

          4  helping anybody, is it?  And the tobacco company

          5  cannot say they think it's not targeting youth

          6  because they know it is.  I don't  --  everybody

          7  here got interested when they were little, like they

          8  say, "oh, I'm smoking."  Everybody went through a

          9  phase and I've been exposed to cigarettes at a young

         10  age.  I have asthma, and a lot of people around all

         11  the neighborhoods you go around, that most of us are

         12  from, you'll find ads, advertisement, marketings,

         13  and if you go into grocery stores you will find them

         14  everywhere.  If it's possible or something, I don't

         15  know if anybody can explain it to me but how come

         16  most of the advertisement are at kids eye level? You

         17  answer the kids is that they're at their reach, and

         18  they could see all the advertisement as they walk

         19  down to the store. They see everything and go, "oh,

         20  oh", so as they get older they'll see and they'll

         21  get interested into it.

         22                 I remember when I was exposed to it,

         23  my friend he tried to get me to smoke.  I didn't

         24  want to, I wasn't interested.           I remember

         25  another time I can recall that when I enter my
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          2  building that the whole first floor was covered just

          3  with smoke.  I thought it was something was burning.

          4    As soon as I opened the door, just the whole room

          5  was filled, and I just took a big giant whiff of it.

          6    I could smell that they were smoking, and I really

          7  got interested.  I wanted to smoke when I was little

          8  actually, and I was like, "all right you know, when

          9  I get older I'm going to start smoking, I want to be

         10  cool, I want to fit in, I want to do all of that."

         11  Guess what?  I don't want to wind up in a hospital

         12  with cancer as I get older.  My father died from

         13  that.  Ask my bother right there, he knows.  My

         14  sister couldn't make it here today, we all really

         15  loved him and we feel sorry.  But we tried to stop

         16  him, no, it couldn't work but I am just here to

         17  support this bill, and try to stop this tobacco

         18  company from targeting us because in the

         19  advertisement all you see is young minorities, and

         20  let me point that out, because they're not talking

         21  to everybody else, they're talking to minorities, to

         22  us.  And they know they are.  So they don't put old

         23  people with tanks this big with air, like "start

         24  smoking." They don't do that.  They put young,

         25  attractive people.  They just put them like that,
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          2  showing cleavage, different poses because they know

          3  that's going to attract our eye, it's like, "oh my,

          4  yo, I gotta get that, you see that girl, she's going

          5  to be mine as soon as I get it."

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  If you could

          7  state your name for the record, that'll be great.

          8                 MR. FERRERAS:  All right, my name is

          9  David Ferreras, 12 years of age, and part of Reality

         10  Check for half a year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         12  much, Dave.

         13                 Next.

         14                 MR. SHEPHERD:  Chairperson Rivera and

         15  members of the Committee, thank you for the

         16  opportunity to address you today.

         17                 My name is Robert Shepherd.  I am a

         18  partner in a nationwide consulting firm specializing

         19  in tobacco issues.

         20                 I am here representing UST Public

         21  Affairs.

         22                 My comments and opinions are based on

         23  my professional career and experience, which

         24  includes 25 years of government service to the State

         25  of New York.  I was a police officer for seven
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          2  years, an Assistant District Attorney in the Bronx

          3  for seven years, and for 11 years, I worked at the

          4  New York State Tax Department.  I was the Deputy

          5  Commissioner for Enforcement in the regulation of

          6  tobacco, and tobacco products composed a large part

          7  of my responsibilities.

          8                 In the six years since I've left

          9  government, I have specialized my practice in the

         10  tobacco and excise tax field, and have represented

         11  retail dealers, wholesalers and manufacturers.

         12                 Specifically regarding Number 443,

         13  and my comments are specifically regarding smokeless

         14  tobacco, nothing else, just smokeless tobacco.

         15  Regarding the flavorings introduction, the smokeless

         16  tobacco category has had a very unique relationship

         17  with flavorings that go back over 180 years.  These

         18  are not things that have been dreamed up in the last

         19  several years as you would have been lead to believe

         20  but they've been gone over for about 180 years.

         21                 In the 1820's, tobacco leaves were

         22  first soaked in licorice, sugar syrup sprinkled with

         23  rum sweet oils and spices, and then used as a

         24  chewing tobacco.  In 1876, they were patented for

         25  flavors including cherry and peach, which are being
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          2  used today.  Again in 1876, there was another

          3  process for pulverizing dry fruits, including

          4  cherries and mixing it with the tobacco. Apple was

          5  patented in 1878.  In the late 1800's, cinnamon,

          6  fruit, honey and molasses and other spices were used

          7  as flavorings. Again in the late 1800's, pineapple,

          8  honeysuckle, honeydew and strawberry.  In 1934, US

          9  Smokeless Tobacco introduced Skoal Wintergreen.  So

         10  these flavors have been around for a while, and they

         11  compose a substantial part of the smokeless tobacco

         12  market.

         13                 So, the introduction which would seek

         14  to eliminate those would eliminate a large part of

         15  the market, which I should point out, the smokeless

         16  tobacco market, the youth usage which was what

         17  everybody is concerned with, has been on a downward

         18  trend over the last decade, and in the submission

         19  that I've

         20  given you there's a chart that shows about three or

         21  four different U. S. Drug use, health and human

         22  services and other independent groups that have

         23  tracked youth usage, and have shown that it's been

         24  going down.

         25                 With regard to the age of purchase,
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          2  in addition to everything else that was brought up,

          3  I'd also like to remind you that 18 years olds are

          4  allowed to vote, and serve on juries, which are two

          5  very important things, which they're obviously adult

          6  enough to do that, but you want to take away their

          7  adult choices in other areas.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         10  much everyone.

         11                 We have the next panel who will

         12  consist of Hector Ruiz from Bronx Reality Check,

         13  Pamela Vittini from ACTION at The Point CDC,

         14  Rhadames Ortiz from Bronx Reality Check also, and

         15  Shellita Orie from Manhattan Reality Check.

         16                 You may begin, and we thank you for

         17  your participation and we do have a three minute

         18  clock.

         19                 MS. FRONTAAN:  Good afternoon, my

         20  name is Chanely Frontaan.  I am 15 years old, and I

         21  attend Herbert H. High School.

         22                 I have been in Reality Check for

         23  almost four years now, and I am here to speak about

         24  candy flavored tobacco cigarettes.

         25                 The reason why is because I am a
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          2  teenager and I always feel like I'm being targeted

          3  as a teenager.  I feel like they are chasing me

          4  around telling me, "oh, come buy my product," and I

          5  especially feel bad because I have this friend that

          6  we were really close for like three years, and she

          7  recently started smoking, and she got hooked on one

          8  of the flavor cigarettes.  I think that it shouldn't

          9  be allowed.  She's a minor, she shouldn't be

         10  smoking, and I think that schools should be a smoke

         11  free zone and that they shouldn't sell cigarettes

         12  around there.

         13                 My school has 4,500 students and

         14  there's a lot of advertisement around my school.  A

         15  lot of teenagers smoke in front of it, and most of

         16  my life I have been exposed to second hand smoke, my

         17  stepfather smokes, and I think that I always have

         18  that harsh smell and that it stinks.  But you know,

         19  now that it has flavor and a good smell, it makes me

         20  think,`why are they making it?'  My father really

         21  doesn't care how it smells, he cares how it's going

         22  to make him feel afterwards, and this is for

         23  teenagers.  This is not for no adults, no old

         24  people.  It's for teenagers, young people, and I

         25  just think that it shouldn't be allowed, and that
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          2  this bill should pass, and stop making them.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. RUIZ:  My name is Hector Ruiz.  I

          5  am 16 years old.  I have been in Reality Check for a

          6  year right now.  I go to Harry S. Truman High

          7  School.

          8                 My experience concerning candy

          9  flavored tobacco cigarettes, cigars, has been that

         10  it's been everywhere.  I know people who smoked

         11  these flavored cigarettes that are under 18 years

         12  old.

         13                 Seeing these ads for the first time

         14  made me think that we are being targeted so easy.

         15  My experience with candy flavored cigarettes is

         16  like, I have been asked if I wanted to do it, and I

         17  said no.  It made me think I don't want to because

         18  of the facts about what tobacco causes, and I know

         19  why the tobacco company made these candy flavored

         20  cigarettes.  They make them so more people,

         21  especially the youth, buy it because they know how

         22  youth like candy, so that means more money for them.

         23

         24                 For example, I have a friend,

         25  actually my moms friend, he works for the tobacco
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          2  factory.  He reps. Them, he markets them for stores.

          3    I asked him questions about cigarettes and why he

          4  feels why they do them, and what's the point of

          5  making candy flavored cigarettes.  His answer was,

          6   "it's just to get more money" and I exactly pointed

          7  that out.  I said, "exactly, it is not for it to be

          8  healthier, it's just for the money."  They don't

          9  care about who they're targeting.  They just want

         10  the money.  I also asked him a question, "why do you

         11  think they make these candy flavored cigarettes?"

         12  He told me candy flavored cigarettes, it's easier

         13  for when you first start smoking, it will smooth

         14  down the harshness.  It won't  --  instead of when

         15  you smoke regular cigarettes, it makes them hurt the

         16  throat the first time, but with the flavor, it will

         17  help them breath in and out easier.

         18                 So once again, my name is Hector

         19  Ruiz, and thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         21  Hector.

         22                 Next, please.

         23                 MR. ORTIZ:  My name is Rhadames

         24  Ortiz, and I've been a part of Reality Check for a

         25  year now.
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          2                 My experiences for candy flavored

          3  cigarettes is like my little brother pointed out

          4  earlier, my stepfather died from lung cancer.  One

          5  of my friends right now, half my friends right now

          6  are smoking candy flavored cigarettes, and you can

          7  tell that the badly effect was happening to them

          8  right now because they are having yellow teeth.

          9  Basically the same effects as a regular cigarette,

         10  nothing different.

         11                 Recently, I was walking with my

         12  cousin, my little cousin one time and then there was

         13  this guy smoking chocolate flavored cigarette and he

         14  smelled it and he was like, "I want try it because

         15  it tastes good."  I was like, "no, that's bad,

         16  that's bad."  And he said, "if chocolate tastes the

         17  same way and doesn't kill me, why won't that kill

         18  me?"

         19                 As we are seeing ads all the time in

         20  local bodegas, stores and stuff promoting candy

         21  flavored cigarettes, and my friends are not 18 or

         22  21, they easily acquire these candy flavored

         23  cigarettes.  I can name some ways; by parents, by

         24  getting other older friends, or by just going to the

         25  place, buying them and they don't even ask for no ID
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          2  or anything.  They just acquire them just like

          3  nothing, get the money or whatever. Probably they

          4  even have discounts for them.

          5                 I am here to represent this bill so

          6  it can be passed, and once again, my name is

          7  Rhadames Ortiz.

          8                      Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. ORIE:  Hello, my name is Shellita

         11  Orie.  I am 15 years old, I go to Washington Irving

         12  High School in Manhattan.

         13                 The reason why I'm here is because of

         14  candy flavored cigarettes.  Many people think that

         15  just because it has flavor and it doesn't mean that

         16  it is not as dangerous as regular cigarettes but it

         17  is.  But the difference between candy flavored

         18  cigarettes and a regular cigarette is people think

         19  that since it doesn't make their breath smell bad

         20  compared to the regular cigarettes, so they would

         21  buy it instead of regular cigarettes.             People

         22  who regularly smoke the regular cigarettes, if they

         23  found out about candy flavored, it would be more

         24  difficult for them to quit while they are already

         25  addicted to those regular cigarettes, which means
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          2  they will have a short life.

          3                 Where I live, there are many people

          4  that smoke cigarettes, kids and teens my age smoke,

          5  and they just act normal but they get cigarettes

          6  from their parents and family around the clock, and

          7  they also smoke reefer, that's a different story.  When

          8  you walk around my area, you see advertisements in

          9  the stores but like gas stations where people drive

         10  through, that's how they get the message, and then

         11  they pass it out to other people about candy

         12  flavored cigarettes. That's really not a good thing,

         13  and also I have been exposed to second- hand smoke,

         14  my uncle smokes.  He said that regular cigarettes

         15  are great but candy flavored cigarettes are better,

         16  and he can still stick to it.  He said nicotine is

         17  something to choose but he's not going to look

         18  forward to it.  He's just going to smoke cigarettes.

         19    Now that they have alcohol with the cigarettes,

         20  more people are wanting that one the most because

         21  many people in America are alcoholic

         22                 That's about it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 I want to thank all the youth for
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          2  coming out today because that shows that people are

          3  very involved especially in the younger populations.

          4    So, I want to thank all of you for being part of

          5  today's testimony.

          6                 That's all for this panel.

          7                 Who says the youth is not involved,

          8  right?

          9                 MS. VITTINI:  Well, my name is Pamela

         10  Vittini.  I am reading on behalf of my friend

         11  Camille Gonzalez (phonetic), as she couldn't make it

         12  today.

         13                 I actually support everything she

         14  said, and I helped her write her speech.

         15                 Hello, my name is Camille Gonzalez,

         16  and I am a senior in high school, and also a member

         17  of ACTION at The Point CDC.

         18                 As a teen that is targeted by what

         19  the tobacco industry thinks is the great innovation

         20  in marketing; flavored cigarettes, I am here to

         21  express my concern for myself and every other

         22  individual in my age group.

         23                 I am sure that many of you have

         24  family members who are teenagers or who soon will

         25  be.
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          2                 Therefore, please realize that this

          3  industry is using your close ones as their prey.

          4  Each day, at least one New Yorker dies per hour, 25

          5  per day, 10,000 per year.  In general, these smokers

          6  that they are loosing not because they quit, but

          7  because they are dead.  This loss of business only

          8  creates a rush for this industry to attract new

          9  smokers to make up for the loss of customers.

         10  Current smokers are not going to switch over to

         11  these flavored cigarettes.  This is why they are

         12  targeting the youth to become their replacement

         13  smokers.  Minorities are the lesser population of

         14  smokers.  By the tobacco industry creating these

         15  flavored cigarettes, they are attempting to lure in

         16  people from urban communities.

         17                 As we are all aware of what R. J.

         18  Reynolds announcement has been, please be advised

         19  that this does not prevent other companies from

         20  moving in and taking the position that they have

         21  just left open.

         22                 We, as the youth, ask that you take

         23  into consideration our plea, to help make our

         24  generation and future generations of our age safer

         25  in this aspect.
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          2                 Thank you for your time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

          4                 Next we have Elena Deutsch.

          5                 Just state your name for the record,

          6  and you can proceed with your testimony.

          7                 MS. DEUTSCH:  Thank you, my name is

          8  Elena Deutsch. I am the Director of Tobacco Control

          9  Programs for Cicatelli Associates.  We are a non-

         10  profit, educational organization located in Midtown

         11  Manhattan, and I am also the parent of two small

         12  children, and I live in Washington Heights.  So, I

         13  will speaking from both perspectives.

         14                 In 2003, the eyes of the world were

         15  on the New York City Council.  The City Council

         16  passed one of the most comprehensive smoke free work

         17  place legislation in the country. Since then, city

         18  after city, state after state, and country after

         19  country has adopted similar measures.  From Bhutan

         20  to Sweden, workers and customers are benefitting

         21  from this, even France is going smoke free.

         22                 The leadership of this City Council

         23  has a tremendous national and global impact.  You

         24  know what they say,`if you can't make it in New

         25  York, you can't make it anywhere.'
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          2                 At Cicatelli Associates I manage the

          3  Tobacco Control Training Project.  We are funded by

          4  the New York State Department of Health's Tobacco

          5  Control Program.  We train their community- level

          6  partners across the state, and their mission is to

          7  change policies that in turn work to change the

          8  social norms around tobacco use.

          9                 The impact of this City Council

         10  passing a ban on flavored cigarettes would give

         11  these community partners a leg up in meeting that

         12  goal.

         13                 We know we can't trust Reynolds in

         14  their Agreement, and as many speakers today have

         15  said, that would

         16  not  --  the marketplace would still be wide open

         17  for tobacco companies to push their flavored

         18  products on our children.

         19                 On a more personal note, my father

         20  was a smoker for most of his adolescence and

         21  adulthood.  He quit smoking when my brother was

         22  born, but he died of cancer just before turning 70,

         23  and I'll never know for sure, but I always wonder if

         24  it was related to his previous habit.

         25                 My father- in- law is nearing 70 and
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          2  he is a current smoker.  He is a physician as well,

          3  and he's not ready to quit. He's very heavily

          4  addicted, and so I leave him alone about it but I

          5  worry.  I worry for his health, and I worry because

          6  I want him to be around to see our boys grow up, and

          7  I want them to know him, and I worry because they

          8  see him smoking, not in our apartment but they see

          9  him smoking, and I don't want them ever to become

         10  addicted to that noxious product.  It's lethal, and

         11  we know that Cherry Blast and Tropical Coolata and

         12  whatever are not targeted to people like my father-

         13  in- law or other adult smokers. They are targeted to

         14  children, and if this City Council were to ban all

         15  flavored cigarettes, that would give us one more

         16  link in the fence to protect our children.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         19                 Seeing nobody else testifying, I want

         20  to thank everybody that participated in today's

         21  hearing.

         22                 We will have another hearing,

         23  obviously, in the near future to discuss which

         24  proposal is moving forward in terms of the age-

         25  related issues, and I look forward to having a vote
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          2  relatively soon.

          3                 Thank you and have a good day.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 4:40 p.m.)
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